Serious Games to Train Neonatal Resuscitation

by

Simran Kaur Ghoman

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Medical Sciences - Pediatrics University of Alberta

© Simran Kaur Ghoman, 2021

Abstract

Each year, 10-20% of newborns (about 13-26 million babies) worldwide will need help to breathe at birth. Helping babies breathe is the cornerstone of neonatal resuscitation. Healthcare providers (HCPs) must perform many tasks quickly and correctly to help babies breathe and prevent irreversible organ injury or death. However even with their help, one million of these babies will die.

Medical errors by HCPs remain common and are responsible for 60% of this mortality. To address this staggering gap, guidelines recommend frequent simulation training. Simulation training prepares HCPs to deliver high-quality care while maintaining patient safety. Therefore, to be certified as a neonatal resuscitation provider, HCPs must complete the simulation-based Neonatal Resuscitation Program course once every two years. However, HCPs' knowledge and skills decrease significantly over time, as early as three months after training.

More frequent training is needed but is often prohibitively resource intensive, requiring significant financial and personnel investment. Traditional simulation requires learners to coordinate time away from the clinic to practice under the supervision of a trained instructor and operations specialist, in a lab outfitted with expensive manikins and equipment to mimic the delivery room. Therefore, most HCPs are unable to access adequate training to safely provide care for their newborn patients.

Simulation-based serious games may offer a solution to improve access to training. Serious games use elements like competition and emotional design to teach knowledge or skills. This thesis examines the simulation-based serious game RETAIN (REsuscitation TrAINing for healthcare professionals, Retain Labs Medical Inc., Edmonton, Canada) which fits this description. In the RETAIN board game and digital game, learners undergo neonatal

ii

resuscitation scenarios to practice their knowledge, communication, and decision-making skills while stabilizing a simulated newborn in distress.

The main goal of this research project was to investigate the educational outcomes of using the RETAIN simulators for training and assessment of experienced neonatal resuscitation providers from a level-three perinatal center in Edmonton, Canada. I hypothesized that i) the board game could be used as a summative assessment of HCPs' knowledge, and ii) training with the digital game would improve HCPs' short- and long-term knowledge retention, maintenance, and transfer.

In the first study to assess summative assessment with the board game, I measured HCPs' performance on an open-answer written test, compared to their performance on the board game. In the second study to assess longitudinal knowledge with the digital game, I measured participants' incoming knowledge with a pre-test simulation scenario. Next, participants underwent two training scenarios with the digital simulator to practice their neonatal resuscitation knowledge. I then measured participants' knowledge improvement by administering a post-test immediately after training, long-term knowledge retention by repeating the post-test 2 months after training, and knowledge transfer by administering a novel assessment scenario and medium, 5 months after training. Across the two studies, I quantitatively and qualitatively measured participants' mindset, habits, and attitudes towards RETAIN, technology, board games, and other educational media with post-session surveys.

The results showed that participants performed better on the board game than on the open-answer test, especially if they reported having more experience with board games overall. The board game also allowed for deeper probing of HCPs' knowledge, like explaining ventilation corrective steps, compared to the written test. In the second study, I observed a

iii

significant improvement in participants' performance immediately after training, which was maintained 2 months later. I also observed successful knowledge transfer, with participants' best performance demonstrated on this assessment. Overall, participants reported positive attitudes towards RETAIN, technology, and growth mindset. Negative feedback was clustered around usability issues with the digital game.

I concluded that the RETAIN simulators supported successful educational outcomes for experienced neonatal resuscitation providers. The board game functioned as an enjoyable and clinically relevant summative assessment, and the digital game facilitated knowledge improvement, retention, and transfer over time. HCPs also expressed positive attitudes towards the simulators, indicating their receptiveness towards these media for continuing healthcare education. Simulation-based serious games are well-positioned to address challenges of traditional simulation training, including improving access to training for urban and rural providers; or facilitating distanced learning during the current pandemic and beyond. Further research is needed to understand how training may ultimately lead to better care and improve health outcomes for our smallest patients.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Simran K. Ghoman. This thesis consists of two research projects that have received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board: i) RETAIN – Video Game to Improve Neonatal Resuscitation Skills, Pro00081221 and ii) RETAIN – Summative Assessment of a Board Game, Pro00085271.

Acknowledgements

This research project was supported by so many wonderful people to whom I am grateful.

Thank you to my supervisor Dr. Schmölzer for teaching me the true meaning of interdisciplinary research and for setting the standard of excellence to which I aim. Your mentorship has prepared me for success, and I know with time I will continue to realize all the lessons you've imparted.

Thank you to my co-supervisor Dr. Cutumisu for generously sharing your support, expertise, and encouragement. I have been both blessed and inspired by your sincere dedication to teaching and mentoring. As I look forward to the future, I will also remember this time together with a smile.

Thank you to the members of my committee, Dr. Brenda Law and Dr. Matthew R. G. Brown, for your guidance, insight, and kindness to encourage my learning and academic development.

Thank you to Dr. Megan O'Reilly, Dr. Tze-Fun (Raymond) Lee, and Dr. Po-Yin Cheung for thoughtfully creating a collaborative, enriching, and supportive research environment.

Thank you to Caroline Fray, Sylvia van Os, and the healthcare professionals from the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit at the Royal Alexandra Hospital for sharing your valuable time and energy.

Thank you to the team from Academic Technologies including Patrick von Hauff, Thomas Jeffery, Cody Wesley, and Trina Bloemen for your help with all things RETAIN.

Thank you to the extraordinary friends I have made at CSAR, both near and far, for being an endless source of heartfelt support and vibrant laughter.

Thank you to my family for your love, pride, and encouragement for everything I endeavor.

Thank you to the public for donating money to fund this research, including the Maternal and Child Health Scholarship Program and its funders: University of Alberta Office of the Provost, Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation, Women & Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI), and Lois Hole Hospital for Women. As well as by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship-Master's (CGS-M), and the WCHRI Graduate Studentship. This work was also supported by the Heart and Stroke Foundation/University of Alberta Professorship of Neonatal Resuscitation, Heart and Stroke Foundation Canada, and Heart and Stroke Foundation Alberta. This research was made possible due to the generosity of these funding partners, who give hope to future newborn patients, their families, and the healthcare providers who care for them. Thank you.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Neonatal Resuscitation	2
1.2 Simulation-Based Education and the Current Approach to Neonatal Resuscitation Training	3
1.3 Serious Games for Neonatal Resuscitation Training	5
1.4 Literature Review	6
1.4.1 NRP Approach to Digital Simulation	
1.4.2 Digital Simulation Games and Extended Reality Applications	
1.4.3 Tabletop Games	9
1.5 The RETAIN Training Simulators	11
1.6 Thesis Contribution and Structure	13
Chapter 2: Methods	23
2.1 Educational Framework	24
2.1.1 Adult Learning Theory	24
2.1.2 Experiential Learning	25
2.2.1 Objectives	
2.2.2 Research Setting	
2.2.3 Research Design	32
2.3 Summative Assessment with the Board Game	35
2.3.1 Can the Tabletop Simulator be Used for Summative Assessment of HCPs' Knowledge?	35
2.4 Training Knowledge with the Digital Simulator	45
2.4.1 Will Training Improve HCPs' Short-term Knowledge?	
2.4.2 Will HCPs experience Long-term Knowledge Changes After Training?	52
2.4.3 Will Training Facilitate HCPs' Knowledge Transfer to a Novel Environment?	54
2.5 Statistical Analysis	64
Chapter 3: Results	66
3.1 Tabletop Simulator for Summative Assessment of HCPs	67
3.1.1 Demographic Information	
3.1.2 Performance Outcomes	
3.2 Digital Simulator Improves HCPs' Short-term Knowledge	75
3.2.1 Demographic Information	
3.2.2 Performance Outcomes	78
3.3 Digital Simulator Improves HCPs' Long-term Knowledge Retention	78
3.4 Digital Simulator Facilitates HCPs' Knowledge Maintenance and Transfer	81

3.5 HCPs' Attitudes and Habits towards RETAIN and Other Media	
3.5.1 Board Game Study	
3.5.2 Digital Game Study	
Chapter 4: Discussion, Future Directions, and Conclusions	
4.1 Discussion	
4.1.1 Board Game Study	
4.1.2 Digital Game Study	
4.2 Future Directions	
4.3 Conclusions	

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Summary of the current landscape of serious digital and extended reality games for neonatal resuscitation education

Table 1-2 Summary of the current landscape of serious tabletop and board games for neonatal resuscitation education

Table 1-3 Summary of the existing literature describing the RETAIN simulators

Table 2-1 Pre-test simulation scenario of a 24-week infant (written assessment)

Table 2-2 Game simulation scenario of an infant with fetal bradycardia (game assessment)

Table 2-3 Difficult pre-post-2-month-test digital simulation scenario

 Table 2-4 Easy practice digital simulation scenario

 Table 2-5 Intermediate practice digital simulation scenario

 Table 2-6 Difficult knowledge transfer simulation scenario

Table 3-1 Demographic information of HCP participants for board game study

Table 3-2 Performance on actions shared between the written assessment and game assessment

Table 3-3 Demographic information of HCP participants for digital game study

Table 3-4 HCPs' self-reported habits and attitudes towards the RETAIN board game, growth mindset, and board games overall

Table 3-5 HCPs' self-reported attitudes towards the RETAIN digital simulator

 Table 3-6 HCPs' self-reported habits and attitudes towards technology

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Algorithm delineating the important assessments and actions undertaken during neonatal resuscitation

Figure 1-2 Simulation lab with equipment, manikin, and supplies required for a neonatal resuscitation simulation

Figure 1-3 Overview of the RETAIN board game, digital simulator, and role-playing video game

Figure 2-1 Kolb's learning cycle

Figure 2-2 Stages of training with the RETAIN serious games as they correspond to the experiential learning cycle

Figure 2-3 Example of debrief cards front (left) and back (right) in the RETAIN board game

Figure 2-4 The RETAIN board game

Figure 2-5 Example of videorecording to record gameplay while minimizing capture of personal identifying information

Figure 2-6 Diagram of study design to evaluate the RETAIN digital game

Figure 2-7 The RETAIN digital game

Figure 3-1 Overall performance on the written assessment and game assessment

Figure 3-2 Performance on shared actions across the written assessment and game assessment

Figure 3-3 HCP participation throughout the longitudinal digital game study

Figure 3-4 Proportion of correct performance over time in the digital game study

Figure 3-5 Summary of themes from HCPs' feedback about the digital simulator

Abbreviations

AP	Anteroposterior
BPM	Beats Per Minute
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease
СРАР	Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
ECG	Electrocardiogram
eHBB	Electronic Helping Babies Breathe
ETAT+	Emergency Triage, Assessment and Treatment Plus
FiO ₂	Fraction of Inspired Oxygen
HBB	Helping Babies Breathe
HCPs	Healthcare Providers
HR	Heart Rate
IQR	Interquartile Range
LIFE	Life-saving Instructions for Emergencies
MCQ	Multiple-Choice Questionnaire
NHS	National Health Service

NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit		
NRP	Neonatal Resuscitation Program		
PPV	Positive Pressure Ventilation		
RETAIN	REsuscitation TrAINing for healthcare professionals		
SBE	Simulation-Based Education		
SD	Standard Deviation		
SpO ₂	Oxygen Saturation		
VR	Virtual Reality		
WHO	World Health Organization		

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Neonatal Resuscitation

Paradoxically, the deadliest day of life is the day of birth¹, especially when evaluated as the number of years of life lost.² Being born is a dangerous and high-risk activity and, tragically, more than one million newborns worldwide do not survive beyond their first and only day of life.¹ The three biggest causes of infant death are infections (36%), pre-term birth (28%), and birth asphyxia (23%).³ Asphyxia at birth describes a lack of blood flow or gas exchange immediately before, during, or after being born.⁴ This may be associated with an intrapartum event such as maternal hemorrhage, uterine rupture, placental abruption, or cord prolapse.⁴ Decreased blood flow to organs like the muscles, liver, heart, or brain can cause irreversible systemic and neurological damage, resulting in severe and detrimental short- and long-term health outcomes.⁴ To reduce morbidity and mortality from asphyxia at birth, it is vitally important for these infants to receive immediate and competent care—known as neonatal resuscitation.

To improve healthcare providers' (HCPs) ability to deliver high-quality care during neonatal resuscitation, the Neonatal Resuscitation Program (NRP) was developed in 1996. The NRP consists of a 2-day certification course in which HCPs train their knowledge, technical skills, and decision-making skills according to the neonatal resuscitation algorithm. This algorithm delineates important assessments and actions to be undertaken by HCPs during neonatal resuscitation (Figure 1-1).⁵ Since its widespread uptake, NRP training has increased the number of infants who are resuscitated, and it has improved first and fifth minute Apgar-scores (a measure to assess newborn health)⁶ while decreasing duration of hospitalization.⁷ However, despite this training, nearly one million infants still die each year from asphyxia at birth^{8,9}, with half of deaths caused by deficiencies in HCPs' competence to safely provide care.¹⁰

2

During neonatal resuscitation, HCPs are expected to work quickly together as a team to safely provide complex, coordinated care within a stressful, time-critical, and demanding situation.¹¹ Their newborn patients may require ventilation, intubation, chest compressions, or intravenous medication—all which must be administered within tight temporal and physical confines. These challenges can impair HCPs' concentration, decision-making, and working memory^{12–14} even in experienced providers.¹⁵ As a result, deviations from the resuscitation algorithm are common¹⁶ and have the potential to cause serious medical errors. Therefore, international guidelines recommend frequent simulation-based education (SBE) to better prepare HCPs to safely provide neonatal resuscitative care.^{5,10}

1.2 Simulation-Based Education and the Current Approach to Neonatal Resuscitation Training

To prepare for neonatal resuscitation, healthcare providers undergo the standardized NRP simulation-based certification course once every two years. The NRP course is rooted in SBE, prioritizing immersive and interactive learning experiences over a pedagogical approach.⁵ The course consists of two parts—during the at-home portion, learners read the NRP textbook, complete a multiple-choice assessment, and undergo a few online simulated resuscitation scenarios. Following the at-home work, learners attend the in-person portion of the course consisting of individual-skill stations and structured simulation scenarios as a group. However, neonatal resuscitation providers are only required to complete the course once every two years, which may be insufficient to maintain long-term competence.¹⁷ This insufficiency is particularly

significant for neonatal resuscitation, as this high-acuity low-occurrence event presents limited learning opportunities for HCPs in the clinic.¹⁸

While more frequent SBE is needed beyond the requirements of the NRP certification course, traditional approaches to simulation training can be resource-consuming and therefore inaccessible and impractical for a majority of HCPs.^{19,20} Traditional training requires access to a simulation lab, outfitted with expensive equipment and manikins which must be monitored and maintained by simulation operations specialists and technicians, as shown in Figure 1-2.²¹ HCPs must coordinate their schedules to take time away from their clinical duties, so that they can participate in planned scenarios under the supervision of a trained instructor.²¹ Moreover, undergoing hands-on training is arguably ineffective unless specific feedback is provided to learners.²² Feedback and reflection through debrief is essential for learners to apply their training to improve their future performance in the delivery room²³ but can be time intensive to provide (especially written feedback) and, therefore, not always feasible.²²

Due to these barriers, frequent SBE opportunities are limited, and gaps in neonatal resuscitation provider competence remain common. This leaves HCPs dangerously underprepared to act quickly and correctly during a clinical emergency. An alternative approach is needed to improve access to frequent SBE and target this root cause of preventable infant morbidity and mortality.

1.3 Serious Games for Neonatal Resuscitation Training

An alternative approach to improve opportunities for SBE in neonatal resuscitation training is needed—one that is effective, engaging, efficient, and grounded in experiential educational psychology.¹¹ Immersive media like serious games are one such potential approach. Serious games use elements like competition and emotional design to engage learners within an interactive and challenging environment, while simultaneously training their skills, knowledge, or attitudes for professional, academic, or therapeutic applications.^{24,25} These immersive media (including board, video, or computer games, as well as tabletop, digital, or extended reality simulators) offer promising solutions to augment traditional neonatal resuscitation SBE. They also teach relevant knowledge or skills within an engaging learning environment^{11,26}, especially as deficiencies in non-technical skills (e.g., working memory, decision-making, and teamwork) are the reason for a majority of fatal errors and poor patient outcomes during neonatal resuscitation.²⁷ While serious games require an initial investment of time and resources to develop, the games then have the potential to be quickly and inexpensively disseminated depending on the developer. On the user end, games have the exciting potential to improve competence and reduce error rates at low time and resource costs.^{28,29}

1.4 Literature Review

Indicative of the universal barriers which limit access to frequent SBE for neonatal resuscitation, different serious games have been developed around the world to help overcome these common, shared challenges.

1.4.1 NRP Approach to Digital Simulation

The latest edition of the NRP provider curriculum introduced the eSim (Laerdal Medical, Stavanger, Norway, and American Academy of Pediatrics, Itasca, Illinois, USA), a digital neonatal resuscitation simulator that is accessed online by learners prior to attending the in-class portion of the NRP certification course.^{5,30} Learners perform assessments and interventions on a simulated infant with responsive heart rate, oxygen saturation, breathing, color, and tone. There are four scenarios to navigate, and feedback is provided by a list of actions performed by learners, scored based on adherence to the NRP algorithm as "correct" or "needs improvement". Pre-NRP course preparation with the eSim plus textbook (compared to textbook-only preparation) improved HCPs' performance of several steps of the NRP algorithm during an inperson simulation.³¹ These steps included initial set-up (80% eSim vs. 59% textbook, p<0.001), initial steps (88% eSim vs. 70% textbook, p=0.024), correctly initiating ventilation corrective steps (MR SOPA mnemonic, where MR stands for "mask adjustment and reposition airway" [84% eSim vs. 61% textbook, p=0.01], SO stands for "suction mouth and nose and open mouth" [61% eSim vs. 32% textbook, p=0.004], and P stands for "direct pressure" [54% eSim vs. 30% textbook, p=0.012), and placing electrocardiogram (ECG) leads before chest compressions (84% eSim vs. 56% textbook, p=0.001).³¹ However, there was no difference in time to initiate

positive-pressure ventilation or correctly order epinephrine (65% eSim vs. 62% textbook, p=0.622).³¹ These promising results indicate that digital simulation can better prepare HCPs for in-person training compared to studying with the textbook alone.

1.4.2 Digital Simulation Games and Extended Reality Applications

Some examples of digital simulation and extended reality games which have been reported in the literature include the Scottish Neonatal Resuscitation mobile game, Singaporean Neonatal Resuscitation computer game, NEOGAMES, e-Baby Neonatal Nursing computer game, Life-saving Instructions for Emergencies (LIFE) mobile game, e-Helping Babies Breathe (eHBB) virtual reality game, and the Compromised Neonate Program virtual reality game (Table 1-1).

The Scottish Neonatal Resuscitation Game (National Health Service Education for Scotland, Edinburg, UK) contains six digital-simulation scenarios to teach neonatal resuscitation skills to rural family physicians with infrequent birth attendance.³² This game incorporates tactical skills practice like coordinating chest compressions with positive pressure ventilation. Moreover, learners' scores are submitted to a leaderboard on the National Health Service Education for Scotland platform.³²

The Singaporean Neonatal Resuscitation Game (Singapore General Hospital, Bukit Merah, Singapore) is an online neonatal resuscitation simulator presenting scenarios of varying difficulty levels to retrain and assess experienced neonatal resuscitation providers.³³ Learners prepare (e.g., assemble equipment) and independently perform simulated resuscitations, and receive a performance summary after each scenario. A study following 162 HCPs over 6 months reported no difference in multiple-choice test scores or manikin-based skills test scores between participants who did and did not voluntarily train with the online game.³³

NEOGAMES (Children's Hospital of Fudan University, Shanghai, China) is a computerbased serious game which presents simulation scenarios of neonatal resuscitation within an immersive learning environment.³⁴ A study following 81 undergraduate medical students reported some short- and long-term knowledge improvements on test scores (for students undergoing curriculum plus game) compared to the control group (curriculum only), which were maintained up to 6 months after training with the game.³⁴

The e-Baby game for neonatal nursing students (University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil) teaches learners to manage oxygenation problems in simulated preterm infants.^{35–37} After reviewing the medical history, learners are presented with a preterm infant with respiratory problems and are prompted to choose clinical assessment tools to answer a series of questions. The e-Baby game was evaluated for its usability and reception by nursing students, who reported the game was easy to use, easy to learn from, and enjoyable.³⁶

LIFE (Life-saving Instructions for Emergencies; Nuffield Department of Medicine, Oxford University, Oxford, UK) is a mobile game developed for the ETAT+ (Emergency Triage, Assessment and Treatment Plus) platform which aims to disseminate training about World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for Africa.³⁸ One scenario in the LIFE game trains learners in performing neonatal resuscitation in a virtual rural hospital setting. The interactive game asks intermittent multiple-choice questions throughout the scenario to reinforce knowledge of resuscitation guidelines.³⁸

8

The LIFE project also collaborated with the Neonatal Education and Simulation-based Training program to develop an electronic Helping Babies Breathe (eHBB) virtual reality game (University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA, and Oxford University, Oxford, UK).³⁹ The game was developed to facilitate continuous learning for HCPs to supplement in-person Helping Babies Breathe classes which are vulnerable to inconsistencies and ineffectiveness in low-resource settings.³⁹ There are three simulation scenarios for learners to practice their knowledge and skills in neonatal resuscitation. In a usability study, HCPs from the National Hospital in Nigeria reported the game as easy to use and facilitates a low-stress educational environment.³⁹

Another virtual reality program for neonatal resuscitation SBE is the Compromised Neonate Program (University of Newcastle, Callaghan, Australia) to train midwifery students.⁴⁰ Learners take the lead of a team of virtual HCPs to deliver and resuscitate newborn infants in distress. Some of the scenarios are played with a virtual helper, while others expect the learner to perform the correct steps of neonatal resuscitation independently and correctly to help the simulated infant. A randomized trial is currently underway with midwifery students from the University of Newcastle to compare the learning progress between students who complete the standard curriculum and those who complete the standard curriculum plus the virtual reality game.⁴⁰

1.4.3 Tabletop Games

Tabletop or board games (simulation-based and strategy-based) represent a lowtechnology alternative to the digital and extended reality media presented above. These serious tabletop games include the Neonatology Game, Neonatal Emergency Trivia Game, and Neonopoly (Table 1-2).

The Neonatology Game (University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK) is a trivia game which aims to teach neonatal curriculum to undergraduate medical students. Learners are split into teams of four, and dealt cards which summarize various neonatal conditions to help them answer general questions about neonatology, including questions about neonatal resuscitation. In a randomized trial, medical students who completed the curriculum plus board game had improved test scores compared to the students who only completed the curriculum.⁴¹ The game was also rated positively by the medical students, who described it as interesting, useful, and fun.⁴¹

Similarly, the Neonatal Emergency Trivia Game (Neonatal Education Specialties, Greensboro, North Carolina, USA) is also a trivia-based game, but, more specifically, it aims to prepare neonatal HCPs for emergent events.⁴² Learners roll dice to determine from which trivia category to answer a question. The game contains over 100 validated and peer-reviewed questions spanning three categories, including one category on neonatal resuscitation (alongside pathophysiology and medication). The questions were tested with experienced neonatal nurses to evaluate their reliability, and the nurses evaluated the game positively for its clarity and clinical relevance.⁴²

Neonopoly (South Africa) was presented in the literature by Swingler (1994) who conducted a study in which midwives evaluated the game for its usability, relevance, and enjoyment.⁴³ The game was rated as enjoyable and participants reported that the game filled a perceived need, while the insufficient number of question cards was identified as a limitation.⁴³

10

Apart from this data, neither the learning objectives, instructions, nor availability of the game were reported.

1.5 The RETAIN Training Simulators

While each game identified in the literature review is situated within its specific framework of learning objectives, clinical environments, and target users, they all aim to improve the current approach towards training neonatal resuscitation. The simulation-based games in particular, offer a potential solution to improve opportunities for HCPs to access more frequent SBE.¹¹ However, the literature review revealed a lack of robust research evaluating many of these simulation games. New approaches towards simulation training must be evidence-based to justify their appropriate application in clinical education settings. Testing through research is also an essential step of design thinking, as it provides critical information to guide the iterative and intensive process of developing these games.

The RETAIN (REsuscitation TrAINing for healthcare professionals; Retain Labs Medical, Edmonton, Canada) simulators were developed to help overcome barriers preventing frequent uptake of neonatal resuscitation simulation by HCPs (Table 1-3). RETAIN currently exists as a tabletop simulator, digital simulator, and role-playing video game (Figure 1-3)—each with the aim of improving training for HCPs from a range of locations and resource backgrounds.⁴⁴

In RETAIN, learners select a simulation scenario based on resuscitations recorded at a tertiary perinatal center in North America. The tabletop simulator contains over 50 unique

resuscitation scenarios of varying difficulty, while the digital simulator currently presents several different scenarios based on examples from the NRP textbook.⁵ While the digital simulator and video game are played individually, the tabletop simulator is played by taking turns within a cooperative team, with one individual as the facilitator. The facilitator reads information about the scenario from a detailed manual of cases and shares this information with the team as appropriate throughout the resuscitation. Using the appropriate equipment pieces, monitors, and action cards, learners practice stabilizing a simulated newborn infant in distress, within the safety of a simulated setting. Feedback (e.g., heart rate, oxygen saturation, breathing, color, and tone) from either the facilitator or computer software provides information about the infant's clinical status to guide learners' decision-making. Correct adherence to NRP guidelines results in the infant's health eventually stabilizing, while inappropriate tasks or tasks in the incorrect order cause the infant's health to decline.

Alternative approaches to traditional in-person simulation training, such as the RETAIN simulators, offer a scalable platform for learners to readily access educational content and achieve many of the same learning objectives as traditional SBE. Games and other immersive media for simulation training may offer a convenient approach to improve HCPs' preparedness to provide neonatal resuscitation care—indicated by the wide range of tabletop, digital, and virtual reality simulators which have already been developed.

A major priority for both high and low-resource healthcare settings is to ensure skilled care at birth. This improves the survival and health of newborn infants and targets the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 3 for good health and wellbeing.³ Immersive media like RETAIN offer a potentially engaging, effective, and resource-efficient supplement to traditional neonatal resuscitation SBE. By improving neonatal resuscitation providers' knowledge and

12

skills, the RETAIN simulators may ultimately help improve health outcomes for newborn infants worldwide.

1.6 Thesis Contribution and Structure

This thesis presents an evaluation of the RETAIN digital and tabletop simulators for their effectiveness across different research questions. The main goal of these studies is to evaluate the RETAIN digital and tabletop training simulator to train and to summatively assess knowledge and decision-making skills about the neonatal resuscitation algorithm in experienced HCPs from a tertiary perinatal center, measured by HCPs' performance on different test instruments. The current work is a continuation of an overarching research project to assess the utility of the RETAIN training simulators to improve HCPs' performance during clinical neonatal resuscitations. In the first part of the project to assess the RETAIN role-playing video game, Bulitko et al. (2015) described the development and preliminary testing of the game⁴⁵, and Cutumisu et al. (2018) analyzed the effect of HCP participants' mindset in moderating their performance within the game.⁴⁶ The second part of the RETAIN research project aims to evaluate the RETAIN board game. Cutumisu et al. (2019) compared HCP participants' performance using a pre-post-test to measure short-term knowledge retention after training with the tabletop simulator.¹⁸ The third part of the RETAIN research project focuses on the RETAIN digital simulator, for which no previous research has been conducted.

The current studies address the RETAIN tabletop and digital simulator. The first study examines whether the RETAIN tabletop simulator can be used as a summative assessment of HCPs' neonatal resuscitation knowledge and decision-making, as an alternative to a traditional

13

written test. The second study evaluates whether training with the RETAIN digital simulator improves HCPs' short- and long-term knowledge retention of the neonatal resuscitation algorithm and facilitates transfer of their knowledge to a novel learning environment. A number of questions informed the direction of this research project, including:

- Can the tabletop simulator be used for summative assessment of HCPs' knowledge, despite having been designed with the initial intention only to train knowledge?
- Will training with the RETAIN digital simulator improve HCPs' short-term knowledge of the neonatal resuscitation algorithm?
- What long-term effects on knowledge will HCPs experience after training with the digital simulator?
- Will training with the digital simulator facilitate HCPs' knowledge transfer, indicating their ability to apply what was learned to a novel environment?
- How are the simulators received by neonatal HCPs? What are HCPs' attitudes towards alternative educational resources, like RETAIN and other technologies?

This thesis consists of five chapters. Chapter one provides background information about the research project, including an overview of simulation-based education for neonatal resuscitation education, and a review of the current landscape of serious games and similar technologies. Chapter two describes the methodological approach and framework used to address the core research questions which constitute this thesis work. Chapter three explains the study evaluating the application of the RETAIN tabletop simulator as a summative assessment of neonatal resuscitation knowledge. Chapter four summarizes the study investigating whether the RETAIN digital simulator facilitates knowledge improvement, retention, maintenance, and transfer over time. Chapter five is a discussion of the results and presents the conclusions and future directions for this research project.

Game	Learning Objectives	How to Play	Availability	Feedback	Assessment of Game	
					Learners' Attitudes	Educational Outcomes
NRP eSim	Prepare learners for in-class NRP provider course	Learners perform assessments and interventions to stabilize patient	4 scenarios available after enrolling in NRP provider course	Percent score determined by adherence to algorithm.	Not reported	eSim+NRP group correct performed actions more frequently than NRP-only HCPs
Scottish Game	Prepare rural HCPs with infrequent birth attendance	Practice simulation cases of different difficulty and clinical settings	6 scenarios available for NHS Scotland course	Final score submitted to NHS leaderboard	Not reported	Not reported
Singapore Game	Train and assess experienced HCPs' knowledge and skills	Lead a virtual team to assemble equipment and perform resuscitations	Scenarios of 3 difficulty levels based on gestational age	Assessment based on knowledge, skills, and leadership	Not reported	No difference between MCQ or simulation scores by HCPs after self-directed play
NEOGAMES	Immersive and accessible simulation education for trainees	Practice simulation cases guided by live feedback of infant's health	Several scenarios offered across different difficulty levels and factors	Not reported	Not reported	Medical students had higher test scores over time in game group vs. control group

Table 1-1 Summary of the current landscape of serious digital and extended reality games for neonatal resuscitation education

Abbreviations: HCP (Healthcare Provider), MCQ (Multiple-Choice Questionnaire), NHS (National Health Service), NICU (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit), NRP (Neonatal Resuscitation Program)

Game	Learning Objectives	How to Play	Availability	Feedback	Assessment of Game	
					Learners' Attitudes	Educational Outcomes
eBaby	Prepare nursing students to care for preterm infants	Answer questions and perform assessments on simulated infants	Cases presenting mild to severe respiratory problems	Score based on correct responses to MCQs	Easy to learn from, enjoyable, autonomous, and accountable	Not reported
eHBB	VR simulator to train HBB in low-resource settings	Administer interventions to manage deliveries	3 scenarios to supplement in- person HBB training	Performance based on adherence to guidelines	HCPs reported it was interesting, educational, and less stressful	Ongoing trial in Nigeria and Kenya to measure outcomes
LIFE	VR simulator to train HCPs in low-resource settings	Answer questions and manage deliveries in a rural setting	Developed to supplement in- person ETAT+ training	Score based on correct answers and adherence	Not reported	Not reported
Compromised Neonate Program	VR simulator to teach midwifery students neonatal skills	Undergo time sensitive and immersive scenarios	Developed to supplement midwifery course curriculum	Correct adherence to resuscitation algorithm	Not reported	Ongoing trial comparing curriculum to game+curriculum
RETAIN digital game	Train HCPs' knowledge and decision-making skills	Independently perform realistic simulation scenarios	>20 cases based on deliveries recorded at a level-3 NICU	Correctly follow NRP algorithm to stabilize infant	HCPs reported it was engaging and elicited stress	Not reported

Abbreviations: HBB (Helping Babies Breathe), HCP (Healthcare Provider), MCQ (Multiple-Choice Questionnaire), NICU (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit), NRP (Neonatal Resuscitation Program), VR (Virtual Reality)

Game	Learning Objectives	How to play	Availability	Feedback	Assessment of Game	
					Learners' Attitudes	Educational Outcomes
RETAIN board game	Improve knowledge, communication, and teamwork skills	Undergo team- based simulation scenarios guided by a facilitator	50 cases based on deliveries recorded at a level-3 NICU	Facilitator booklet contains NRP-based feedback for each scenario	Experienced HCPs enjoyed playing the game	Improved knowledge retention of NRP on an open- answer scenario
The Neonatology Game	Teach undergraduate neonatal curriculum	Team-based trivia game where players race to answer questions	Used during neonatal unit of University of Glasgow medical curriculum	Performance scored based on number of correctly answered questions	Medical students said the game and resources were useful, fun, and interesting way to learn	Compared to curriculum alone, game+curriculum group scored higher on the final exam
Neonatal Emergency Trivia Game	Prepare HCPs for clinically emergent neonatal cases	Team-based trivia game where players answer questions about neonatal pathophysiology, resuscitation, or medication	101 peer- reviewed validated short-answer questions and answers	Performance scored based on number of correctly answered questions	Nurses said the game was easy to play, clinically applicable, helpful, and recommend it to their peers	Not reported
Neonopoly	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Midwives said the game was enjoyable and easy to learn, but needs more questions	Not reported

 Table 1-2 Summary of the current landscape of serious tabletop and board games for neonatal resuscitation education

Reference	Media	Objectives	Outcomes
		Original Research	
Bulitko et al. 2015 ⁴⁵	Video Game	Development and pilot testing for usability and relevance (n=11)	Game developers, academics, and HCPs rated game as stressful, engaging, clinically relevant, and useful for basic neonatal resuscitation training
Cutumisu et al. 2018 ⁴⁶	Video Game	Effect of fixed vs. growth mindset in moderating performance on the video game (n=50)	Mindset moderated relationship between time since NRP training and performance; HCPs with higher growth mindset made fewer mistakes
Cutumisu et al. 2019 ¹⁸	Tabletop Simulator	Improve short term knowledge retention after training (n=30)	HCPs improved performance by 12% after training, especially in temperature management
Lu et al. 2020 ⁴⁷	Digital Simulator	Machine learning to examine attitudes and longitudinal digital simulation performance (n=50)	Three attitudinal clusters identified, with each cluster exhibiting a diverse learning path; all clusters improved knowledge after training
Lu et al. 2021 ⁴⁸	Digital Simulator	Effect of growth mindset to moderate performance (n=50)	HCPs who endorsed higher growth mindset performed better 2-months after training
		Review	
Ghoman et al. 2020 ¹¹	Video Game, Tabletop Simulator, Digital Simulator	Review the landscape of technology-enhanced and game- based neonatal education	The RETAIN digital and tabletop simulators exist as two of nine identified alternative tools for neonatal resuscitation/neonatology education
Ghoman & Schmölzer 2020 ⁴⁴	Video Game, Tabletop Simulator, Digital Simulator	Review the existing literature describing the educational outcomes of RETAIN simulators	Three original papers and one conference proceeding were identified and summarized
		Case Study	
Ghoman et al. 2020 ⁴⁹	Tabletop Simulator	Describe the methodology and study design of the tabletop simulation clinical studies (n=50)	Summarized information about how training and assessment studies were conducted, including decision-making and troubleshooting

Table 1-3 Summary of the existing literature describing the RETAIN simulators

Figure 1-1 Algorithm delineating the important assessments and actions undertaken during neonatal resuscitation (7th edition *Textbook of Neonatal Resuscitation*, Weiner 2016)



Figure 1-2 Simulation lab with equipment, manikin, and supplies required for a neonatal resuscitation simulation



Figure 1-3 Overview of the RETAIN board game, digital simulator, and role-playing video game (Retain Labs Medical, 2021)

RETAIN RETAIN Towners a A State (122r and the second Longer Longer Man 1000 2

Chapter 2: Methods
2.1 Educational Framework

SBE is the recommended method for HCPs to train and demonstrate their clinical competence while maintaining patient safety.⁵⁰ However, traditional SBE requires significant human and financial resource investment which become a barrier against frequent training.²⁰ Therefore, most HCPs are not able to adequately maintain their clinical knowledge and skills.¹⁷ The previous chapter outlined specific problems that gaps in competence cause during neonatal resuscitation¹⁰, when HCPs must expertly provide cardiorespiratory support to their vulnerable newborn patients.⁵

2.1.1 Adult Learning Theory

Serious games are well-positioned to support healthcare education as many of its elements align with the principles of adult learning.^{51,52} As such, serious games have already been developed for most medical disciplines—including surgery^{29,53}, emergency medicine^{54,55}, and anesthesiology.⁵⁶ Some of the learning principles that serious games offer include collaborating with instructors and peers, taking a problem-centered rather than subject-centered approach, and leveraging internal motivation to foster autonomy.^{52,57}

The RETAIN board game and digital game were developed to teach neonatal resuscitation, and thus many of its characteristics overlap nicely with the above principles of adult learning. The RETAIN board game facilitates a collaborative learning environment with learners interacting dynamically with the facilitator and navigating each scenario as a team.⁴⁴ Furthermore, the problem-centered format of both the board game and digital game lends itself

to autonomous self-directed learning, as learners undertake subsequent scenarios each with its own unique learning objectives.⁴⁴

2.1.2 Experiential Learning

One of the most important adult learning principles is for teaching to be grounded and relevant to the learners' current situations.^{52,57} This principle overlaps quite concisely with the central objective of serious games⁵¹, and also informs one of the most significant frameworks in adult learning theory—the experiential learning model.^{23,52} In brief, experiential learning occurs when students consolidate their first-hand experiences—rather than theoretical study—into practical knowledge, skills, and strategies.⁵⁸ Learners directly interact with the subject matter being studied, rather than just read, hear, talk, or write about it.⁵⁹ Importantly, learners engaged in experiential learning report improved understanding⁶⁰, performance⁶¹, and enthusiasm.⁶² Experiential learning is at the core of many components of continuing medical education, such as residency and continuing clinical practice.⁵² Further, experiential learning informs some approaches to undergraduate medical curriculum like the clerkship period.⁵²

Experiential learning cycles are a four-stage cyclical model to explain adaptive knowledge development, and consist of concrete experiences, reflective observation, abstract conceptualism, and active experimentation (Figure 2-1).²³ SBE which meaningfully utilize Kolb's experiential learning cycles in their design are reported to be the gold standard, by allowing learners to apply their medical knowledge to robust simulated contexts and increase their participation in critical reflection.^{63,64}

Figure 2-1 Kolb's learning cycle



Similarly, the simulation-based serious game RETAIN was developed to facilitate experiential learning by providing a structure to scaffold learners into experiential learning cycles.⁶⁵ While a thoughtful analysis of educational theory is beyond the scope of this thesis work, the learning objectives of the RETAIN games can be mapped to the stages of the Kolb cycle (Figure 2-2). Understanding that the cycle can start at any point^{63,66}, in the RETAIN serious games, abstract conceptualization starts with the pre-brief stage. During the pre-brief, learners review information about the patient (e.g., maternal history, perinatal events, etc.) and prepare for delivery by gathering and setting their simulated equipment to the appropriate measurements based on what they expect to encounter during the scenario. In the board game, the pre-brief stage provides an opportunity for learners to communicate as a team, discuss shared expectations, and establish psychological safety.

Figure 2-2 Stages of training with the RETAIN serious games as they correspond to the experiential learning cycle



At the start of the scenario when the baby is born, active experimentation is encouraged to begin. Learners, either individually or as a team, apply their knowledge to make decisions within the scenario. Their expectations as to how the case will unfold are either affirmed or challenged, based on the learning objectives of each unique scenario. Simulation-based serious games are an exciting educational approach to encourage active experimentation because within this playful setting, learners can apply their ideas and strategies without consequences for patient safety, nor with the pressures (from peers and supervisors) of traditional SBE.

Feedback about the simulated patient's health (provided by the board game facilitator or within the digital game) creates a shared reference point for learners to understand the validity and implications of their decision-making—providing learners with concrete experience.^{63,67} This objective and concrete evaluative feedback (standardized by the facilitator booklet or digital software) allows learners to gauge the success of their experimentation. This explicit feedback about their active experimentation is important to inform the next stage of reflective observation.

During reflective observation, learners review their performance so that they may consider new strategies before beginning the next scenario. In the RETAIN board game in particular, learners review their performance as a group, with the discussion guided by prompting questions on the game cards (Figure 2-3). Dedicated time built into game play allows for learners to synthesize their performance with the support of the facilitator, allowing for meaningful reflective observation rather than rushing straight to the next scenario. In contrast, the digital game has learners reflect on their performance by revieing a post-scenario summary of their time-stamped actions. However, without supervision by an experienced individual, this media may currently lack the support for learners to adequately reflect, which may impact the

Figure 2-3 Example of debrief cards *front* (left) and *back* (right) in the RETAIN board game



educational value of the experience.²³ Moving back to the start of the cycle, as learners generate solutions and strategies to address the problems they faced during the previous scenario, abstract conceptualization begins again. In anticipation of the next scenario, the experiential learning cycle continues.

Despite the limitations of this model⁵², experiential learning cycles offer a useful framework to better understand how to support adult HCP learners. This framework can, in turn, be used to inform serious game design and development for healthcare education.

2.2 Research Methods

2.2.1 Objectives

This project aimed to investigate both the RETAIN board game and digital game for neonatal healthcare education. The aim of the first stage of this project was to examine if the RETAIN board game could be used as an objective summative assessment of HCPs' individual neonatal resuscitation competence. The aim of the second stage of this project was to examine if the RETAIN digital game could be used to improve HCPs' short-term and long-term knowledge retention of neonatal resuscitation, and if the knowledge retained could be transferred to a novel learning environment. Overall, throughout these two distinct projects, quantitative and qualitative measurements were collected to ascertain how the RETAIN board game and digital game were perceived by HCP participants (i.e., enjoyment, motivation, and attitudes towards the games). The current studies were developed and overseen by an interdisciplinary team of clinicians, educational psychologists, designers, computer scientists, and research scientists from the Centre for the Studies of Asphyxia and Resuscitation (Edmonton, Canada).

2.2.2 Research Setting

This thesis project was conducted at the Royal Alexandra Hospital (Edmonton, Canada) Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU). This tertiary perinatal center has a robust and highly specialized neonatal program and transport team who provide comprehensive care for critically ill and very premature infants. This site admits more than 350 infants with a birth weight less than 1,500 grams each year, from a total catchment area equivalent to one third of Canada's land mass. Participants were recruited from a population of experienced neonatal HCPs (e.g., registered nurses, respiratory therapists, nurse practitioners, residents, fellows, and consultants) who attend neonatal resuscitations.

2.2.3 Research Design

Neonatal HCPs were eligible to participate in the current studies if they had completed the NRP provider course within 24 months prior to enrolling in the study (as this is the maximum time to maintain provider certification). With the assistance of the on-site research coordinators, a total of 70 on-service HCPs were recruited to participate across the two studies, using convenience sampling dictated by their availability. Throughout recruitment, anonymized information about participants' professional roles was collected and compiled; this information

was frequently reviewed to help guide the recruitment process in an aim to ensure the study sample was representative of a typical resuscitation team (both in clinical role and years of experience), and to avoid overrepresentation of any one group (i.e., inadvertently having most participants be very experienced respiratory therapists) to improve validity. To minimize contamination, HCPs were only recruited to participate in one of the two current studies, and were excluded from participating in the other.

Approval for the two simulation studies was obtained by the Human Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (Pro00085274, Pro00081221). Written informed consent from HCPs was obtained prior to their participation. Participants were informed that their participation in the studies was voluntary, data collected about their performance would be anonymized immediately using participant ID codes, information about their individual performance would not be shared with their peers or supervisors; and that their refusal to participate would not affect their professional standing.

RETAIN Board Game



2.3 Summative Assessment with the Board Game

2.3.1 Can the Tabletop Simulator be Used for Summative Assessment of HCPs' Knowledge?

To evaluate if the RETAIN board game could be used as an objective summative assessment of neonatal resuscitation knowledge, intra-participant performance while playing RETAIN was compared to their performance on a traditional written test. The study was conducted over 5 days between October 25 and November 2, 2018, and each session took approximately 30 minutes to complete. The study sessions took place in a private room within the administrative offices of the NICU. Participants completed the sessions alone with the researcher who conducted the observational study. They were not compensated for their participation, apart from receiving a candy bar or baked goods after completing the study, as a token of gratitude for their time. The researcher did not work at the hospital and did not have any interest in or influence over the participants' professional roles. After obtaining informed consent, the study protocol began with participants answering a demographic questionnaire about their clinical role and experience. Next, participants individually completed an open-answer written test, in which they were presented with the following neonatal resuscitation scenario about a newborn 24-week premature infant in fetal distress:

26-year-old woman G1P0 with no prenatal care currently at 24 weeks pregnant. The mother received 2 doses of Betamethasone and MgSO4 prior caesarean section due to fetal heart abnormalities. The baby is delivered and receives 60sec of delayed cord clamping. The baby is transferred to the Resuscitation table. What are the next steps?

Through a series of written prompts providing clinical information about the infant (e.g., heart rate, breathing, etc.), participants were expected to warm (e.g., place hat and plastic wrap), stimulate, perform initial assessment, attach monitoring equipment (e.g., oxygen saturation, heart rate, temperature), initiate positive pressure ventilation, complete ventilation corrective steps, transition to continuous positive airway pressure, and admit the newborn to the NICU (Table 2-1). Participants received no feedback about their performance on the written test.

Immediately after the written test, participants independently completed one scenario with the RETAIN board game (Figure 2-4). The board game was set up on the desk, with equipment pieces and role cards laid out in a single layer to the left of the board, and action cards (grouped in their categories) to the right. The action cards were laid out, so every potential action was always visible to participants as they played the game. Participants underwent a standardized tutorial led by the researcher, to learn how to play the game and become familiar with the action cards and equipment pieces. They were asked to identify each piece of equipment and read through each action card, as well as instructed on how to use the cards and equipment pieces appropriately. At the end of the tutorial, participants were reminded to say all of their thoughts and actions out loud as they played the game, to ensure that their performance was comprehensively measured.





After the tutorial, the researcher facilitated the same game scenario for all participants in the study, of an apneic infant with fetal bradycardia. The scenario began with, "You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia. How would you prepare for the resuscitation of the baby?" Through a series of prompts, participants were expected to prepare for the birth, assess, perform initial interventions, initiate positive pressure ventilation/ventilation corrective steps, intubate, perform chest compressions, and admit to the NICU (Table 2-2). The researcher followed the same script for each participant, which included frequent updates of the infant's heart rate, oxygen saturation, and visual appearance. If participants performed the correct interventions, the infant's vitals would improve over time. If participants performed the incorrect interventions, the researcher responded with the same vitals as before (i.e., no improvement nor deterioration of the infant's health). Participants performed all actions independently, so that their individual neonatal resuscitation competence could be assessed objectively. No feedback or assistance was provided, and any questions were addressed by repeating only what was written in the script, or with "I do not have that information". At the end of the scenario, participants were directed to answer four debrief questions (Figure 2-3), followed by a post-game survey. The survey included items about their experience using the RETAIN game, game board habits, growth mindset, and statistical reasoning.

Audiovisual performance while playing the game was captured using a GoPro camera (GoPro, Inc. San Mateo, California). Participants were informed and consented to have the game scenario audio- and video-recorded, so that their simulated neonatal resuscitation performance could be adequately reviewed, coded, assessed, and compared with their pre-test performance. In best efforts to maintain anonymity, the camera was positioned to only capture the board game

and participants' hands as they moved through the frame to limit the amount of personal identifying information collected (Figure 2-5).

In the 2 weeks following data collection, the video recordings were transcribed, the survey data was digitized, and participants' performance on both the written pre-test and game scenario was coded and scored. The data analyst was not employed by or associated with the hospital and, therefore, was unlikely to be able to identify any of the HCP participants based on their handwriting, hands, or voices. The answer key for both scenarios was informed by the 7th edition Neonatal Resuscitation Program guidelines⁵, and scoring was overseen by an experienced neonatologist and educational psychologist. Actions were scored based on their correct application in the appropriate sequence. To maintain clinical relevance rather than be irrationally punitive, resuscitation actions, which are typically performed simultaneously or in a flexible sequence, were grouped together, and those groups were then ordered to create the answer keys (Table 2-1, 2-3).

Figure 2-5 Example of videorecording to record gameplay while minimizing capture of personal identifying information



 Table 2-1 Pre-test simulation scenario of a 24-week infant (written assessment)

Scenario: Your task is to identify the steps needed to react in the following situation: a newborn baby with fetal distress is brought to you.

Medical History: 26-year-old woman G1P0 with no prenatal care currently at 24 weeks pregnant. The mother received 2 doses of Betamethasone and MgSO₄ prior caesarean section due to fetal heart abnormalities. The baby is delivered and receives 60 seconds of delayed cord clamping. The baby is transferred to the Resuscitation table.

	Actions	Points
What are the next steps?	1. Hat	+1
	2. Wrap	+1
	3. Stimulate	+1
	4. Visually assess	+1
	5. Assess breathing	+1
	6. Assess heart rate	+1

The clinical team performs initial assessment: Heart rate (HR) 70/min, blue skin color, and apnea

What are the next steps?1. Attach SpO22. Attach ECG3. Attach temp probe4. Suction5. Reposition head	+1 +1 +1 +1 +1 +1 +1
---	----------------------

After reassessment: Heart rate (HR) 50/min, blue skin color, and apnea

What are the next steps?	1. PPV for 60 seconds	+1
After	r reassessment: HR>100/min, apnea	
	1. MR SOPA	+1
What are the next steps?	2. PPV for 60 seconds	+1
		_
	2. PPV for 60 seconds in, spontaneous breathing with increa	_

Table 2-2 Game simulation scenario of an infant with fetal bradycardia (game assessment)

Scenario: You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia. How would you prepare for the resuscitation of the baby? As you work, say your thoughts and actions aloud so I will know what you are thinking and doing.

Medical History: You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia for the last 3 minutes. One baby is expected. The fluid is clear.

	Actions	Points
	1. Pre-brief	+1
		. 1
	1. Assign roles	±1
	2. Call for assistance	+1
What are the next steps?		
T	1. Put on protective equipment	+1
	2. Gather supplies	± 1
	3. Check equipment	± 1
	4. Set ventilation device	± 1
		<u> </u>
	The baby has been born	. 1
What are the next steps?	1. Visually assess	± 1
The baby ap	pears term, has no tone, and is not breath	ing
	1. Tactile stimulation	± 1
	2. Dry	± 1
What are the next stons?	3. Visually assess	+1
What are the next steps?	4. Cord management	± 1
	5. Maintain temperature	± 1
	6. Suction	+1
The	baby has no tone and is not breathing	
	1. Assess breathing	± 1
	2. Measure heart rate	± 1
What are the next steps?	3. Initiate PPV	± 1
, hat are the next steps.	4. Attach oxygen saturation	+1
	5. Attach temperature probe	+1
Aftor ra	eassessment: HR 40/min, baby is apneic	
21/10/10	1. Reassess	±1
	2. <u>MR</u> SOPA	±1
	3. Continue PPV	± 1
	4. Reassess	± 1
What are the next steps?	5. MR <u>SO</u> PA	± 1
	6. Continue PPV	± 1
	7. Reassess	± 1
		± 1
	8. MR SO <u>P</u> A	

		. 1
	9. Continue PPV	±1
	10. Reassess	± 1
After reassessment: HR 40/mi	n and not increasing, baby is apneic	and no chest movement is
	observed	
	1. MR SOP <u>A</u>	± 1
	2. Intubation preparation	+1
What are the next steps?		. 1
	1. Confirm tube placement	±1
	2. Reintubate	±1
After reassessment: Color did ci	nange on CO2 detector on second in	tubation attempt, HR 40/mir
	and not increasing	
	1. Call for assistance	±1
What are the next steps?	2. Oxygen blender to 100%	±1
•	3. Give chest compressions	±1
After reassessment: After 60 s	seconds of chest compressions, HR i spontaneous respirations	increases to 70/min but no
	1. Stop chest compressions	+1
What are the next steps?	1. Continue PPV	+1
	after birth HR>100/min, oxygen sau we some spontaneous respirations	turation 90%, beginning to
	1. Admit to NICU	
What are the next steps?	2. Update parents	
No fi	urther actions are required thereafte	21

RETAIN Digital Simulator



2.4 Training Knowledge with the Digital Simulator

The educational outcomes of training with the RETAIN digital simulator were evaluated in a three-part study to measure 1) immediate knowledge improvement, 2) long-term knowledge retention, and 3) knowledge transfer into a novel learning environment.

2.4.1 Will Training Improve HCPs' Short-term Knowledge?

To evaluate if the RETAIN digital game improves HCPs' short-term neonatal resuscitation knowledge, a pre-post-test study design was used to measure intra-participant performance immediately before and after training (Figure 2-6). The study was conducted over 17 days between May 27-August 7, 2019, with each session taking approximately 30-40 minutes to complete. The study sessions took place in either a private room within the administrative offices of the NICU, in the communal office spaces on the unit (e.g., fellow office, respiratory therapist office, nurse practitioner office, lactation consultant office, etc.), or at the bedside.



Figure 2-6 Diagram of study design to evaluate the RETAIN digital game

Best effort was made by researchers to ensure that participants were undisturbed and able to complete the study sessions relatively uninterrupted (i.e., covering clinical responsibilities for the participant by delegating their pager to another HCP for the duration of the session). However, in the instances where participants (particularly those undertaking the study at the bedside) were interrupted, a note was made in their data file, and participants were given an opportunity to reacclimate to the digital game before resuming the session.

After obtaining informed consent, the study protocol began with participants answering a demographic questionnaire about their clinical role and experience. The researcher then presented the digital game to participants on a research laptop with an external wired optical mouse (Figure 2-7). Participants underwent a guided tutorial to learn how to use the game, which consisted of an example simulation scenario about a newborn 24-week premature infant in fetal distress. The tutorial required participants to review the case history (e.g., 26-year-old woman G1P0 with no prenatal care currently at 24 weeks pregnant. The mother received 2 doses of Betamethasone and MgSO₄ prior caesarean section due to fetal heart abnormalities.), gather their team (e.g., respiratory therapist, neonatal nurse, nurse practitioner, and/or neonatologist), set their equipment appropriately (e.g., turn on radiant warmer, set peak inspiratory pressure to 20 cmH₂O, etc.), and prepare for the birth (don personal protective equipment, assign roles, gather supplies, and check equipment). Once the baby was born, participants browsed the available actions within the game, and practiced choosing different assessments and interventions (e.g., visually assess, apply plastic wrap, attach pulse oximeter, start positive pressure ventilation (PPV), etc.). Throughout the tutorial, participants were encouraged to ask the researcher any questions they had about how to operate the game, prior to beginning the assessment scenarios. Total time to complete the tutorial ranged from between approximately 2-5 minutes.

Figure 2-7 The RETAIN digital game



Once participants confirmed they were ready to begin, they were presented with the digital pre-test assessment simulation scenario (You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia. Please prepare for the birth of the baby.). The scenario was a difficult case example from the NRP textbook, requiring participants to follow the NRP algorithm through PPV to chest compressions (Table 2-3). This scenario was implemented with the aim to assess participants' baseline or incoming knowledge of the neonatal resuscitation algorithm, prior to training with the RETAIN digital simulator. Participants completed the scenario individually with no help, other than for potential technical assistance (e.g., if the computer keyboard or mouse was not working correctly, only then would the researcher help to troubleshoot those issues). The scenario ended if the participants completed the steps of the NRP algorithm correctly so that the health of the simulated infant stabilized, and they could admit the patient to the NICU. If participants completed the steps of the NRP algorithm incorrectly, or in the incorrect order, the health of the simulated infant continued to deteriorate. In this case, the scenario ended once the participant decided to give up and exit (i.e., they did not know what to do next, or had clicked on all of the actions they thought may help but had now exhausted all of the options in the game). To note, in this situation, the game never incorporated death as a punitive outcome in the simulation, as it was not a predefined learning objective of the assessment.68

Participants received no feedback after the pre-test scenario, apart from witnessing the binary outcome of successfully admitting to the NICU, or unsuccessfully exiting the scenario (i.e., they did not debrief their performance, review the NRP algorithm, nor receive any instruction).

Immediately after the pre-test scenario, participants independently undertook two training scenarios with the RETAIN digital game. The training scenarios aimed to allow an opportunity for participants to practice their knowledge and decision-making about neonatal resuscitation. While the time taken to complete the two scenarios varied between participants, overall training took approximately 10 minutes to complete. These scenarios ranged from easy (Table 2-4) to intermediate (Table 2-5) and were taken from examples presented in the NRP textbook.⁵ The easy case example consisted of a vigorous term newborn, in which participants were informed that they have been "called to attend a vaginal birth. The mother is in active labor with ruptured membranes. Please prepare for the birth of this baby." Participants were expected to prepare for the birth, perform initial assessments, take basic steps (e.g., dry, stimulate, warm), and end the scenario by leaving the baby with the mom. The intermediate case example consisted of a "vaginal birth, with labor progressing rapidly." To successfully complete this scenario, participants were required to prepare for the resuscitation, perform initial assessments, complete basic steps, provide PPV, and move through ventilation corrective steps (e.g., mask adjustment, reposition head, suction mouth and nose; open mouth, and increase pressure).

After training with the digital game via the two practice simulation scenarios, participants completed a post-test, which consisted of repeating the pre-test scenario (Table 2-3). The post-test scenario aimed to assess changes in participants' knowledge of neonatal resuscitation after training with the digital game. Choosing a difficult scenario for the pre- and post-test allowed for participants to demonstrate their knowledge on a range of learning objectives within neonatal resuscitation simulation education. Repeating the scenario for both the pre- and post-test allowed for more straightforward comparison of participants' performance before and after training. Using two different scenarios for the pre- and post-test may have introduced confound, where

any differences measured between performance pre- and post-training may have actually been caused by differences in the assessment scenarios. As was the case with the pre-test, participants completed the scenario independently with no help or assistance, so that their individual performance could be measured objectively.

After completing the post-test, participants filled out a post-session survey, which included items (closed- and open-ended) to collect their feedback about the RETAIN game, growth mindset, digital game usage, experience with educational games, attitudes towards technology, and typical personal technology habits.

Performance data was collected for all participants during all scenarios with the game, including the tutorial, pre-test, 2 practice scenarios, and post-test. The data file generated by this and all simulation scenarios within the RETAIN digital game was a timestamped (by milliseconds) .txt file that listed the actions that users performed, simultaneously with the patient's current heart rate, oxygen saturation, temperature, and other assessment measures and outcomes at that time. The files also listed the binary outcome of whether participants passed or failed each scenario. Participants passed the scenario if their actions were 100% adherent to the answer key (which was based on the NRP algorithm), and participants failed the scenario if their actions were <100% adherent to the answer key.

Participant data was collected and analyzed anonymously as participant ID codes. The only potentially identifying information linked throughout the study was the initial demographic questionnaire (i.e., clinical role, number of years of experience, etc.) which was also marked with participants' ID code. Due to the longitudinal nature of the study investigating the RETAIN digital game, a master list was necessary to keep track of participation over time. The master list

was organized by only one researcher who was not associated with the hospital in any way. The master list contained minimal information about the date of each study session, participants' ID code, and participants' first name and last name initial (e.g., Sarah G.).

2.4.2 Will HCPs experience Long-term Knowledge Changes After Training?

To evaluate whether the RETAIN digital game improves HCPs' long-term retention of neonatal resuscitation knowledge, a 2-month follow-up session was conducted to measure participants' performance after initial training (Figure 2-6). The study was conducted over 18 days between July 29 and November 25, 2019, with each session taking approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. Once again, the sessions took place either in a private room (NICU administrative office), semi-private room (communal professional office on the unit), or at the bedside (to accommodate HCPs' responsibilities), and support was provided where possible to ensure that participants were able to complete the session relatively uninterrupted and privately.

The researcher arranged a time to meet each participant in a comfortable location to complete the follow-up session. This arrangement was done with the help of a research nurse, research respiratory therapist, or research clinician, who worked at the site. The research HCP reviewed the names of the participants who were due for their follow-up, who then did a walkthrough of the NICU to see if any of those participants were on-service, and approached them to organize a time. The research HCPs also consulted the NICU schedule to see when those participants were expected to be working in the upcoming days, in order to make a tentative plan for scheduling sessions for the upcoming week. Best effort was made to ensure that participants underwent their follow-up session exactly 2 months after the initial session, however due to scheduling and clinical demands, this was not always possible. Researchers allowed for moderate flexibility in scheduling follow-up sessions by a few weeks. However, if the follow-up session could not be reasonably arranged within this time period, those participants were dropped from the study.

At the start of the follow-up session, the researcher reviewed the aims of the study with participants, and talked them through the expectations of the current session. The researcher presented the digital game to each HCP, and allowed them to informally reacclimate themselves to the digital game. The researcher reviewed how to navigate the game, and reminded participants about the available actions and information provided within the scenario. When participants confirmed that they were comfortable with proceeding, then the assessment scenario would begin. For the 2-month follow-up post-test, participants independently repeated the preand post-test from the initial session (Table 2-3), however they were not explicitly informed that it was the same assessment scenario from the initial session. The same protocol as the pre- and post-test was applied, and data was collected in the same way. No feedback was provided during or after the scenario, nor was there a post-assessment survey administered. To note, participants had no access to the digital game in between the initial and follow-up sessions. The game was downloaded only on the research laptop used in the study, which was kept locked in a cabinet in a private office in the NICU administrative wing. The only neonatal resuscitation training that participants undertook as part of the study were the 2 digital simulation practice scenarios from the initial session.

2.4.3 Will Training Facilitate HCPs' Knowledge Transfer to a Novel Environment?

The third and final phase of the current study examined whether training with the digital simulator allowed for HCPs to ultimately transfer their knowledge to a novel simulation environment. To measure knowledge transfer, the table-top simulation-based RETAIN board game was used, as the game had been investigated (in the first study presented in this thesis) as a summative assessment tool.

To understand if the RETAIN digital game facilitated knowledge transfer, a 5-month follow-up session (i.e., 5-months after the initial session) was conducted to measure participants' performance using the RETAIN board game (Figure 2-6). The study was conducted over 15 days between November 12, 2019 and January 9, 2020, with each session taking approximately 15-20 minutes to complete. As in the previous two sessions within this study, these sessions mostly took place in a private office (e.g., the NICU research office, communal professional office) or sometimes at the bedside (as the board game was much more cumbersome than the laptop to set up at the small bedside stations). Similar arrangements were made to schedule the 5-month follow-up session as was described above for the 2-month follow-up session.

To begin the 5-month follow-up session, the researcher presented participants with the board game, and led a brief tutorial to review the instructions, role cards, equipment pieces, action cards, and other elements important to gameplay. Participants were allowed a few minutes to familiarize themselves with the game format, and practice using the action and equipment pieces. Once participants indicated they were ready to proceed, the study protocol began, and participants were presented with the 5-month knowledge transfer assessment. This assessment

simulation scenario consisted of a difficult case based on a delivery recorded at the Royal Alexandra Hospital. The case was presented verbally by the researcher as:

Please prepare for the birth of the baby by completing set-up, assigning roles, checking equipment, and reviewing the medical history. Once the baby is born, you and your hypothetical team must stabilize the baby. Throughout the scenario, please say your thoughts and actions aloud to demonstrate what you are thinking and doing. The prebrief checklist consists of 1) term gestation, 2) one baby expected, 3) meconium-stained fluid, and 4) no additional risk factors that your team is aware of.

The scenario required participants to follow the NRP algorithm through chest compressions, including establishing vascular access and administering medication (Table 2-6). As this scenario was administered with the aim to assess participants' knowledge transfer from their training with the digital game to the novel board game environment, it was the most difficult and advanced scenario, and was presented in a different format than the previous digital scenarios.

Participants completed the scenario individually, with no formative feedback from the facilitator nor help from any teammates. The facilitator (researcher) guided each participant through the scenario by providing information about changes in the simulated patient's oxygen saturation and heart rate, as well as other information obtained from participant-initiated assessments (e.g., the patient's visual appearance). The scenario ended if participants successfully completed each step of the NRP algorithm correctly to admit the infant to the NICU, or if the resuscitation attempt failed due to incorrect actions taken. Performance data was collected by the researcher using a written checklist based on the NRP guidelines (Table 2-6).⁵

The data from the digital game assessment scenarios and board game assessment scenario was analyzed, coded, and scored using a binary pass or fail grade, where pass indicated 100% adherence to the NRP algorithm and fail indicated <100% adherence to the NRP algorithm. A binary score system was chosen as the digital game allowed for users to incorrectly deviate from the algorithm, which would cause the infant's health to deteriorate. In this case, participants would react by potentially deviating further from the answer key set out for the scenario. For example, if the learning objective of a digital scenario was to successfully administer continuous positive airway pressure, but a participant was to pre-emptively provide chest compressions, the simulated infant in the digital game would potentially respond negatively (i.e., poor heart rate and oxygen saturation). In response, this participant may escalate by establishing vascular access and providing medication-thereby deviating further from the intended learning objectives (and thus, answer key) for this scenario. Therefore, to avoid these complicated situations, the binary pass/fail was determined to be an appropriate outcome measure. To make comparisons between the digital assessment scenarios and the board game assessment, a pass/fail score was also assigned to the 5-month knowledge-transfer board game assessment as well.

As was with the previous study examining the board game as a summative assessment, the individual performing the data analysis for this study was not employed by the hospital from which the study participants were recruited, and thus did not have any influence or interest in their performance from a professional standpoint. To reiterate, the answer key used for all of the assessment scenarios in this three-phase study was developed by an experienced neonatologist and educational psychologist, and informed by the NRP textbook and neonatal resuscitation algorithm.⁵

Table 2-3 Difficult pre-post-2-month-test digital simulation scenario

Scenario: "You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia. How would you prepare for the resuscitation of the baby?"

NRP	RETAIN
	~ · · · ·
Preparation for Resuscitation	Set it Up
Assessment of Perinatal risk:	Assign Roles
Gestation? Term	Gather Supplies
Fluid clear? Fluid is clear	Pre-Brief
Number of babies? One baby is expected	Check Equipment
Additional risk factors?	Put on protective equipment
Fetal bradycardia for the last 3 minutes	Set ventilation device
	Call for assistance
The baby has b	een born
Rapid Evaluation and Initial Steps	Basic Steps
Term? Appears term	Dry
Tone? No tone	Tactile Stimulation
Breathing or Crying? No breathing	Maintain Temperature
	Measure Oxygen Saturation
Positions, suctions, dries, stimulates	Measure Temperature
Vital Signs:	Measure Blood Pressure
Checks breathing – Baby is apneic	Measure Heart Rate
	Cord Management
Positive Pressure Ventilation	Ventilation
Begins PPV	Initiate PPV
Within 15 seconds requests to check HR rising	MR Adjust Mask and Reposition
HR is about 40 bpm, not increasing	Airway
Assess chest movement:	SO Suction Airway and Open Mouth
PPV 15 seconds, no chest movement	P Adjust Ventilation P (max 40 cm
observed, proceed through MR. SOPA, PPV	H ₂ O)
30 seconds, still no chest movement –	- /
indicate need for alternative airway	
(intubation or laryngeal mask placement)	
Checks heart rate	
HR about 40 BPM, still not increasing	
fire about to Di wi, sun not mer casing	

Reassessment: HR is 40 bpm and not increasing, pulse oximetry is not detecting a signal

Scenario (continued): "You are called to attend a birth due to fetal bradycardia. How would you prepare for the resuscitation of the baby?"

NRP	RETAIN
Alternative Airway	Ventilation
Intubates (endotracheal tube, 3.5 mm)	A Establish Alternative Airway
Checks CO ₂ detector color change/HR/mvmt	Intubation preparation
Checks tip to lip insertion depth	Confirm correct tube placement
Secures endotracheal tube/laryngeal mask	Commi contect tase placement
Color is not changing on the CO ₂ detector	
and HR not increasing	
Remove device, resume PPV, repeat insertion	
Color is changing on the CO2 detector,	
pulse oximetry is not detecting a signal	
Continue PPV 30 seconds, check/secure tube	
Reassessment: HR is 40 bpm and not increas	ing, pulse oximetry is not detecting a
signal	
Chest Compressions	Cardiovascular
Calls for additional help if necessary	Give chest compressions
Increase oxygen concentration to 100%	II
Compress Sternum 1/3 AP diameter of chest	
PPV administered during pause	
Reassessment: The HR is 70 bpm and rising, signal, no spontaneou	
PPV without compressions	Ventilation
Discontinue chest compressions	Stop chest compressions
PPV continuer, higher ventilation rate 40-60	
Adjust oxygen concentration per oximetry	
Reassessment: The heart rate is >100 bpm. Oxy	gen saturation is 78%. No spontaneous
respiratio	ns
Vitel Cines	Dost Dosus sitution
Vital Signs	Post Resuscitation
Continues PPV and adjusts oxygen	Admit to NICU Transfer to mother
HR is >100 bpm. Oxygen sat is 90%, tone is improving beginning to have some	
improving, beginning to have some	
spontaneous respirations Prepares for transport to nursery	
1 1 1	
Updates parents <i>Abbreviations: AP (anteroposterior), HR (heart rate), NI</i>	CII (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit) NRP (Neon
$\frac{1}{1000} = \frac{1}{1000} = 1$	

Resuscitation Program), PPV (positive pressure ventilation).

 Table 2-4 Easy practice digital simulation scenario

Scenario: "You are called to attend a vaginal birth. The mother is in active labor with ruptured membranes. How would you prepare for the birth of this baby?"

NRP	RETAIN
Preparation for Resuscitation	Set it Up
Assessment of Perinatal risk:	Assign Roles
Gestation? 39 weeks gestation	Gather Supplies
Fluid clear? Fluid is clear	Pre-Brief
Number of babies? One baby is expected	Check Equipment
Additional risk factors?	Put on protective equipment
There are no additional risk factors	Set ventilation device
	Call for assistance
The baby has	been born
Rapid Evaluation and Initial Steps	Basic Steps
Term? Yes	Dry
Tone? Yes	Tactile Stimulation
Breathing or Crying? Crying	Maintain Temperature
	Measure Oxygen Saturation
	Medsure Oxygen Baturation
Newborn stays with mother for initial steps	Measure Temperature
Newborn stays with mother for initial steps Dries, skin-to-skin, cover with blanket	
•	Measure Temperature
Dries, skin-to-skin, cover with blanket	Measure Temperature Measure Heart Rate

Abbreviations: HR (heart rate), NRP (Neonatal Resuscitation Program).
Table 2-5 Intermediate practice digital simulation scenario

Scenario: "You are called to attend a vaginal birth. Labor is progressing rapidly. Demonstrate how you would prepare for the birth of this baby."

RETAIN
Set it Up
Roles
Supplies
ef
Equipment
protective equipment
tilation device
assistance
Basic Steps
Stimulation
n Temperature
e Oxygen Saturation
e Temperature
e Blood Pressure
e Heart Rate
anagement
Ventilation
PPV
just Mask and Reposition
-
tion Airway and Open Mouth
st Ventilation P (max 40 cm
-

Proceed through MR. SOPA, PPV 30 seconds

Reassessment: Chest is moving with PPV, HR 120/min, oxygen saturation 64%, occasional respiratory effort

Scenario (continued): "You are called to attend a vaginal birth. Labor is progressing rapidly. Demonstrate how you would prepare for the birth of this baby."

NRP	RETAIN
Positive Pressure Ventilation	Ventilation
Continues PPV, Directs FiO ₂ per oximetry	Continue PPV
Reassessment: HR 140/min, oxygen saturo respiratory effort, music	01
Positive Pressure Ventilation	Ventilation
Gradually discontinues PPV	Give chest compressions
Reassessment: HR 140/min, strong and con	asistent spontaneous respiratory effort
Vital Signs	Post Resuscitation
Monitor HR, breathing, oxygen saturation, temperature	Transfer to mother
Plans post-resuscitation care	
Updates parents	
Prepares for transport to nursery	

Abbreviations: bpm (beats per minute), FiO₂ (fraction of inspired oxygen), HR (heart rate), NRP (Neonatal Resuscitation Program), PPV (positive pressure ventilation)

Table 2-6 Difficult knowledge transfer simulation scenario

Scenario: The case history is presented on Scenario 41 card. Please prepare for the birth of the baby by completing each set-up step (including assigning roles, checking the equipment, and reviewing the medical history). Once the baby is born, you and your team must stabilize the baby. Throughout the scenario (including set-up and stabilization/resuscitation of the baby), say your thoughts and actions aloud to demonstrate what you are thinking and doing. The scenario is complete when the baby is stabilized, or the attempt has failed.

		Actions				
	1.	Pre-brief	Gestation? Term Number of babies?			
	2.	Assign roles	One baby expected			
		Call for assistance	Fluid clear?			
	5.		Meconium stained			
	4.	Put on protective equipment	Additional risk			
What are the next steps?	5.	Gather supplies	factors? No			
	<i>5</i> . 6.		information that the			
	0.	Set ventilation device	team is aware of			
			The plan for the cord			
			will be immediate co			
			clamping			
	The	baby has been born				
What are the next steps?	1.	Visually assess				
The baby is apneic, airways an		ed with meconium, and the bab	y has no muscle tone			
		Tactile stimulation				
		Dry				
What are the next steps?		Visually assess				
······		Cord management				
		. Maintain temperature Suction				
	•••					
The bc		no tone and is not breathing Assess breathing				
		Measure heart rate				
		Initiate PPV				
What are the next steps?	-					
	4.	18				
	5.	Attach temperature probe				
After rea	ssessm	ent: HR 37/min, baby is apneic				
	1.	Reassess				
What are the next steps?		<u>MR</u> SOPA				
what are the next steps:	3.	Continue PPV				
	4.	Reassess				

	5. MR <u>SO</u> PA			
	6. Continue PPV			
	7. Reassess			
	8. MR SO <u>P</u> A			
	9. Continue PPV			
	10. Reassess			
After reassessment:	HR 33/min and no chest movement is observed			
	1. MR SOP <u>A</u>			
	2. Intubation preparation			
What are the next steps?	3. Confirm correct tube			
	placement			
After reassessment: Chest rise	<i>e, misting, and color change on</i> CO_2 <i>detector, HR</i> 42/ <i>min</i>			
	1. Call for assistance			
What are the next steps?	2. Oxygen blender to 100%			
t nut ut t the next steps	3. Give chest compressions			
After reassessment: After 60 seco	nds of chest compressions, HR is 43/min but no spontaneous			
	respirations			
	1. Establish vascular access			
	2. Continue chest compressions			
What are the next steps?	3. Administer medication (1 st			
	dose of epinephrine)			
Aft	er reassessment: HR is 89/min			
	3. Admit to NICU			
What are the next steps?	4. Update parents			
No furt	her actions are required thereafter			

Chan	iges in	oxygen	saturati	on and h	eart rate	e over fi	rst 10 m	inutes af	fter birth	l
Time (mins)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
SpO ₂	31	30	33	34	43	46	52	66	70	97
HR	37	38	42	42	49	89	125	132	137	141

*Abbreviations: HR (heart rate), NICU (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit), PPV (positive pressure ventilation), SpO*₂ (oxygen saturation)

2.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics (IBM, Armonk, NY) and RStudio (RStudio Inc., Boston, MA). Participants' survey, questionnaire, and performance data were recorded, coded, analyzed, and compared within studies. Scenario performance was scored using the 7th edition NRP textbook.⁵

In the summative assessment study, the *written assessment* measure represents a participant's cumulative score across all actions, interventions, or tasks described by the participant in the open-answer written simulation scenario assessment. The maximum score for each participant was 16 points, when all actions, assessments, interventions, and tasks were answered correctly (range from 0 to 16). For each correct action indicated on the written assessment, participants were assigned one point (no points were deducted for an incorrect answer) as shown in Table 2-1. The *game assessment* measure represents a participants' cumulative score across all actions, interventions, or tasks indicated or described by the participant within the game session with the RETAIN board game. The maximum score for each participant was 40 points, when all actions, assessments, interventions, and tasks were answered correctly (range from 0 to 40). For each correct action performed, participants were assigned one point. For each incorrect action, participants were either deducted zero points or one point, depending on the severity of the action, as indicated in the answer key (Table 2-2).

In the digital study, the *pre-test* measure represents participants' outcome on the difficult digital simulation scenario administered prior to training. The *post-test* measure represents participants' outcome on the same difficult simulation scenario, administered at the timepoint immediately after undergoing the practice scenarios within the RETAIN digital game. The 2-

month post-test measure represents participants' outcome on the same difficult simulation scenario, administered at the timepoint 2 months after completing the initial study session. The *5-month post-test* measure represents participants' outcome on the knowledge transfer task (simulation scenario presented with the RETAIN board game) administered at the timepoint 5 months after completing the initial study session. All 4 measures used a binary outcome to measure performance.

Descriptive analyses were conducted of the demographic and survey questionnaire data, and performance measures to determine whether performance outcomes were correlated or changed over time were carried out. Outcome parameters were compared using the appropriate tests for parametric, continuous, and/or categorical variables. *P*-values were 2-sided and p<0.05 was considered significant. Data for continuous variables are presented as median(interquartile range [IQR]) or mean(standard deviation [SD]). Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Tabletop Simulator for Summative Assessment of HCPs

3.1.1 Demographic Information

Participants were n = 20 HCPs (19 female and 1 male; 8 neonatal nurses, 4 neonatal nurse practitioners, 4 neonatal respiratory therapists, and 4 neonatal fellows), as shown in Table 3-1. All HCPs recruited for the study did participate and completed informed consent. As per recruitment guidelines, all participants had completed NRP-recertification within the last 24 months, with the median(IQR) number of months elapsed since recertification being 6(1-10.5) months (range of 1-24 months elapsed). HCPs had different levels of experience providing neonatal care, ranging between 6 months to 30 years of experience, and median(IQR) of 10.5(3-17) years.

Three participants reported their highest level of education completed as a diploma program, 6 completed a bachelor's degree, 2 completed an after-degree (e.g., after-degree nursing program), 4 completed a master's degree, 4 completed an undergraduate medical degree, and 1 participant reported "Other".

Item		Participants (n%)	Median(IQR)
Gender	Male	1 (5%)	
	Female	19 (95%)	
Time since last NRP course	Less than 6 months	10 (50%)	6(1-10.5) months
	Between 6-18 months	8 (40%)	
	Between 19-24 months	2 (10%)	
Education completed	Diploma	3 (15%)	
	Bachelor's	6 (30%)	
	After-degree	2 (10%)	
	Master's	4 (20%)	
	Medical degree	4 (20%)	
	Other	1 (5%)	
Clinical role	Nurse	8 (40%)	
	Nurse practitioner	4 (20%)	
	Respiratory therapist	4 (20%)	
	Fellow	4 (20%)	
Clinical experience	Less than 1 year	1 (5%)	10.5(3-17) years
	2-5 years	5 (25%)	
	6-10 years	3 (15%)	
	11-20 years	8 (40%)	
	More than 20 years	3 (15%)	

Table 3-1 Demographic information of HCP participants for board game study

3.1.2 Performance Outcomes

Overall, participants' score on the *written assessment* had mean(SD) 8.6(2.1) out of a total possible score of 16 points (53%). In comparison, the overall participants' score on the *game assessment* had mean(SD) 29(3.2) out of a total possible score of 40 points (74%), as shown in Figure 3-1. Non-significant Shapiro-Wilk normality tests revealed that all performance variables were normally distributed.

This difference in the total number of points available in each scenario can be attributed to the unique characteristics of each of the assessment media. Due to the hand-written openanswer nature of the *written assessment*, the total number of points was 16 (i.e., the number of bullet-point actions participants needed to indicate they would perform in order be successful in the simulated scenario). In contrast, due to the nature of gameplay, the *game assessment* necessitated participants to engage in many more individual actions due to the specificity of each action card (e.g., in the *written assessment*, ventilation corrective steps were represented as correctly writing the mnemonic acronym MR SOPA [1 point], whereas in the *game assessment*, ventilation corrective steps were represented by correctly playing 6 action cards [6+ points]). Moreover, the *game assessment* was a more difficult and therefore a lengthier scenario than the *written assessment*.



Figure 3-1 Overall performance on the written assessment and game assessment

Beyond this overall raw measure, there were 10 clinically relevant and specific actions that were shared between the *written assessment* and *game assessment* (Table 3-2). Performance on these shared actions had mean(SD) 7.2(1.3) (72%) on the *written assessment* and 8.8(1.4) (88%) on the *game assessment*. Participants' scores on the *game assessment* were significantly higher than on the *written assessment* for the 10 shared actions, when analyzed using a non-parametric Wilcoxon paired *t*-test (V=17, p<0.01) (Figure 3-2). Performance scores on these shared actions were only weakly correlated across both assessment media (r=0.14).

To understand these results in a third context, beyond the overall raw measure and 10 shared actions, scores can also be compared using a pass-fail outcome. When comparing performance on the *game assessment* and *written assessment* using a passing score of 65% (where scores \geq 65% are assigned a pass outcome, and scores <65% are assigned a failure outcome), significantly more participants passed the *game assessment* (19/20 participants, 95%) compared to the *written assessment* (14/20 participants, 70%) when analyzed using a paired samples *t*-test (*p*<0.01). To note, a cut-off score of 65% was chosen as this standard is used to score the United States Medical Licensing Examination.⁶⁹

Looking more closely, differences between specific actions undertaken in both assessments were considered. On the *written assessment*, all HCPs (20/20) correctly wrote the ventilation corrective acronym MR SOPA, whereas 18 out of 20 HCPs correctly played all six ventilation corrective steps in the *game assessment*. Moreover, the format of the *game assessment* allowed for further probing in comparison to the *written assessment*. When prompted to explain what actions MR SOPA referred to (i.e., Mask adjustment, Reposition airway, Suction mouth and nose, Open mouth, direct Pressure, and establish an Alternate airway), only 15 out of

20 HCPs correctly answered all 6 actions (an example of an incorrect answer would be attributing "provide Oxygen" to "O" rather than "Open mouth").

There was no significant difference in participants' performance on the actions of assessing breathing (p=0.32), maintaining temperature (p=0.08), attaching pulse oximeter (p=0.11), or providing suction (p=0.42); and no difference in assessing heart rate or initiating PPV (Table 3-2) across the assessments. However, the basic resuscitation step of stimulating the patient was performed more frequently in the *game assessment* compared to the *written assessment* (p<0.01). As well, HCPs more frequently indicated they would admit the infant to the NICU in the *game assessment* compared to the *written assessment* (p<0.001). However, this could have been caused by participants' misunderstanding of the expectations of the *written assessment*, rather than being a clinically relevant difference between the assessment methods.

Action	Written assessment	Game assessment
	n (%) correct	n (%) correct
Maintain temperature	16 (80%)	19 (95%)
Stimulate	11 (55%)	19 (95%) *
Assess breathing	14 (70%)	11 (55%)
Assess heart rate	18 (90%)	18 (90%)
Assess oxygen saturation	14 (70%)	18 (90%)
Attach temperature probe	6 (30%)	6 (30%)
Suction	6 (30%)	8 (40%)
Initiate PPV	19 (95%)	19 (95%)
MR SOPA	20 (100%)	20 (100%)
Continue PPV	19 (95%)	20 (100%)
Admit to NICU	2 (10%)	18 (90%) *

Table 3-2 Performance on actions shared between the written assessment and game assessment

**indicates significant difference in performance between assessments (p value <0.05)*



Figure 3-2 Performance on shared actions across the written assessment and game assessment



3.2 Digital Simulator Improves HCPs' Short-term Knowledge

3.2.1 Demographic Information

Participants were n=50 neonatal HCPs (44 females and 6 males; 27 registered nurses, 3 nurse practitioners, 14 respiratory therapists, and 6 neonatal fellows), shown in Table 3-3, who completed the first study session (Figure 3-3). As described in the methods section, the first study session consisted of a pre-survey (demographic questionnaire), *pre-test* (baseline assessment), 2 practice scenarios (digital simulation training), *post-test* (to measure immediate knowledge improvement), and post-survey (feedback questionnaire). Fifty-two HCPs were recruited for the study, however 2 HCPs declined to participate (1 due to disinterest, and 1 due to competing clinical responsibilities).

As per the recruitment guidelines, all participants had completed NRP-recertification within the previous 24 months, with a range of 1 to 24 months, and median(IQR) 9(5-12) months elapsed. Number of years of clinical neonatal background varied widely across HCP participants, ranging from 2 months to 30 years, and median(IQR) 9(6.4-15.2) years of experience. HCP reported their highest level of education as a diploma program (n=13), bachelor's degree (n=24), after-degree program (n=4), master's degree (n=4), and undergraduate medical degree (n=6); (responses on this item equal 51 as 1 participant reported having obtained both a master's degree and an undergraduate medical degree).

Item		Participants (n%)	Median(IQR)
Gender	Male	6 (12%)	
	Female	44 (88%)	
Time since last NRP course	Less than 6 months	14 (28%)	9(5-12) months
	Between 6-17 months	31 (62%)	
	Between 18-24 months	5 (10%)	
Education completed	Diploma	13 (26%)	
	Bachelor's	24 (48%)	
	After-degree	4 (8%)	
	Master's	4 (8%)	
	Medical degree	6 (12%)	
Clinical role	Nurse	27 (54%)	
	Nurse practitioner	3 (6%)	
	Respiratory therapist	14 (28%)	
	Fellow	6 (12%)	
Clinical experience	Less than 1 year	5 (10%)	9(6.4-15.2) years
	2-5 years	8 (16%)	
	6-10 years	17 (34%)	
	11-20 years	16 (32%)	
	More than 20 years	4 (8%)	

Table 3-3 Demographic information of HCP participants for digital game study





3.2.2 Performance Outcomes

All HCPs completed the *post-test* more quickly than the *pre-test*; the median(IQR) time to complete the *pre-test* was 396(369-454) seconds, and 283(251-322) seconds to complete the *post-test*. Performance on the digital game was scored using either a pass (100% adherence to the NRP guidelines) or fail (<100% adherence to the NRP guidelines) outcome. There was a significant overall increase in the proportion of correct performance by HCP participants across the *pre-test* and *post-test* (Figure 3-4). A Chi-squared test showed that the proportion of participants who passed the pre-test (42%, or 21 out of 50) was significantly smaller (Chi-squared(1)=13.365, *p*=0.0003, 95% confidence interval [16.8988% to 51.6487%]) than the proportion of the participants who passed the post-test (78%, or 39 out of 50).

3.3 Digital Simulator Improves HCPs' Long-term Knowledge Retention

Two months after the initial study session in which participants trained with the RETAIN digital simulator, they undertook the *2-month post-test* to assess long-term knowledge retention of the neonatal resuscitation guidelines. Forty-three out of the initial 50 HCP participants completed the *2-month post-test*. Reasons for dropout (n=7) included job relocation (n=3), maternity leave (n=2), and being otherwise unavailable to schedule a follow-up session according to study protocol (n=2), as shown in Figure 3-3. These participants were dropped from the study from this timepoint onwards, and there was no significant difference in the pre-test or post-test of participants who dropped out compared to those who completed the full duration of the study.

The proportion of HCPs who correctly passed the 2-month post-test was 30 out of 43 participants (70%), as illustrated in Figure 3-4. Compared to the initial post-test, performance slightly declined at the 2-month timepoint, as was expected due to knowledge typically decreasing over the passage of time. However, there was no significant difference between overall performance on the 2-month post-test compared to the initial post-test (p=0.32), indicating that knowledge was retained over this timeframe.



Figure 3-4 Proportion of correct performance over time in the digital game study

3.4 Digital Simulator Facilitates HCPs' Knowledge Maintenance and Transfer

Five months after the initial study session, participants underwent the *5-month post-test*, which assessed whether they were able to successfully transfer the neonatal resuscitation knowledge gained from training with the digital simulator, to a novel learning environment. Forty participants completed the 5-month post-test (n=3 additional dropouts, with n=1 taking maternity leave and n=2 otherwise unavailable), as shown in Figure 3-3.

Thirty-two out of 40 participants successfully passed the *5-month post-test* (80%), which is the highest proportion reported from any of the 4 assessments performed in this study (Figure 3-4). Mean performance at the 5-month timepoint was nearly double the mean performance on the initial *pre-test*, suggesting that participants' learning was sustained and transferred. *Pre-test* performance was associated with the *5-month post-test* when analyzed using the Pearson correlation test of association (r=0.43, p<0.5). Remember that the *5-month post-test* was a more difficult scenario than the *pre-test*, *post-test*, and *2-month post-test*, as it required escalation of the NRP algorithm through 2 rounds of chest compressions, establishing vascular access, and administering medication.

3.5 HCPs' Attitudes and Habits towards RETAIN and Other Media

Self-reported habits and attitudes were measured with a post-study questionnaire (openand closed-answer items). As described above, the questionnaire was administered immediately after gameplay in both the summative assessment board game study, and the longitudinal digital game study.

3.5.1 Board Game Study

Overall, 85% of participants (17 out of 20 HCPs) enjoyed playing the RETAIN board game (n=5 strongly agreed, n=12 agreed, n=3 were neutral), with a median(IQR) score of 4(4-4.25) on a 5-point Likert-scale (Table 3-4). Most participants reported playing board games infrequently, anywhere from not at all (n=11) to 1 hour per month (n=4). However, some reported more frequent usage, at 1 hour per week (n=4) and 3 hours per week (n=1). When asked about their number of years of overall game board experience, participants reported median(IQR) 22.5(11-30) years (Table 3-4). However, some participants reported confusion about understanding how to answer this item, so the results should be interpreted cautiously. That being said, performance on the *game assessment* was moderately associated with the number of years of board game experience (r=0.45, p=0.06, n=20), but not with the *written assessment*. However, this correlation did not reach significance (possible due to the relatively small dataset). Table 3-4 HCPs' self-reported habits and attitudes towards the RETAIN board game, growth

Item		Participants (n%)	Median(IQR) or Mean(SD)
Did you enjoy	Strongly Agree	5 (25%)	4.1(0.6)
playing the	Agree	12 (60%)	
RETAIN game?	Neutral	3 (15%)	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly Disagree	0	
Board game habits	None	11 (55%)	
in a typical week	1 hour or less	8 (40%)	
	More than 1 hour	1 (5%)	
Overall board	Less than 5 years	3 (15%)	22.5(11-30) years
game experience	5-10 years	4 (20%)	
	10-30 years	8 (40%)	
	More than 30 years	5 (25%)	
You can't really do	Strongly Agree	0	1.4(0.5)
much to change	Agree	0	
how good you are	Neutral	0	
at your job	Disagree	8 (40%)	
	Strongly Disagree	12 (60%)	
You can learn new	Strongly Agree	0	1.6(0.5)
things, but you	Agree	0	
cannot really	Neutral	0	
change how good	Disagree	12 (60%)	
you are at your job	Strongly Disagree	8 (40%)	
You can always	Strongly Agree	14 (70%)	4.7(0.5)
change how good	Agree	6 (30%)	
you are at your job	Neutral	0	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly Disagree	0	
You can get better	Strongly Agree	17 (85%)	4.8(0.4)
at your job with	Agree	3 (15%)	
practice	Neutral	0	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly Disagree	0	

5-point Likert scale (1- strongly disagree, 2- disagree, 3- neutral, 2- agree, 1- strongly agree)

3.5.2 Digital Game Study

Participants responded to a series of closed-answer items soliciting their feedback on the usability of the digital game (Table 3-5). Forty-eight out of 50 (96%) participants agreed that the length of time and pacing of the game was appropriate to retain information of the basic resuscitation steps. Regarding the terminology used in the game, 37 participants (74%) reported that the terminology used did not impede their ability to complete the required actions (n=13 found it to be a barrier). When asked if they could make decisions quickly, 8 participants disagreed, citing that it was cumbersome to have to scroll and locate their desired actions (n=42 agreed that they could make decisions quickly). This sentiment was echoed in another item asking whether the actions participants wished to perform were available and could be quickly and easily found and selected while playing (n=20 agreed, while n=30 disagreed). The size of the actions screen was consistently flagged as an issue (caused by a display ratio issue with the game software on the research laptop), as it required users to continuously scroll up and down to apply different actions (e.g., if participants "initiated PPV" halfway through the scenario, they would have to scroll back to the top of the actions screen to then "assess breathing" again).

The next series of questionnaire items aimed to assess HCPs' attitudes towards the RETAIN digital simulator. Overall, HCPs reported that the scenario was realistic (n=42 agreed or strongly agreed), simulated the stressful nature of neonatal resuscitation (n=35 agreed or strongly agreed), and enjoyed playing the game (n=41 agreed or strongly agreed). Most HCPs reported that the game could be beneficial for NRP training (n=47 agreed or strongly agreed). Participants also reported being fairly motivated to use RETAIN, as they liked this way of learning, and felt encouraged to play the game again (mean(SD) 3.7(0.8) and 3.6(0.6), respectively, on a 5-point Likert scale).

Item		Participants (n%)	Mean(SD)
Pacing of game was	Yes	48 (96%)	
appropriate	No	2 (4%)	
Terminology used was	Yes	37 (74%)	
appropriate	No	13 (26%)	
Could make decisions	Yes	42 (84%)	
quickly	No	8 (16%)	
Could quickly and easily	Yes	20 (40%)	
find actions	No	30 (60%)	
Scenario was realistic	Strongly agree	7 (14%)	3.9(0.8)
	Agree	35 (70%)	
	Neutral	4 (8%)	
	Disagree	3 (6%)	
	Strongly disagree	1 (2%)	
Scenario simulated stress	Strongly agree	3 (6%)	3.7(0.7)
	Agree	32 (64%)	
	Neutral	11 (22%)	
	Disagree	3 (6%)	
	Strongly disagree	1 (2%)	
Enjoyed playing the game?	Strongly agree	7 (14%)	3.8(0.8)
	Agree	34 (68%)	
	Neutral	4 (8%)	
	Disagree	4 (8%)	
	Strongly disagree	1 (2%)	
Game could be beneficial	Strongly agree	12 (24%)	4.1(0.6)
for NRP training	Agree	35 (70%)	
	Neutral	1 (2%)	
	Disagree	2 (4%)	
	Strongly disagree	0	

 Table 3-5 HCPs' self-reported attitudes towards the RETAIN digital simulator

5-point Likert scale (1- strongly disagree, 2- disagree, 3- neutral, 2- agree, 1- strongly agree)

The positive themes that emerged from the open-answer responses included that the game was fun, interactive, provided realistic feedback, facilitated an accessible opportunity to practice neonatal resuscitation, encouraged critical thinking, and was less embarrassing or stressful than in-person team-based instructor-supervised simulation (Figure 3-5). The negative themes were the usability issues (i.e., difficult to find actions quickly, layout of screen meant having to look away from the patient, preference for using drag-and-drop rather than clicking action buttons), lack of team-based training (and subsequent lack of being able to apply some interventions simultaneously), lack of some desired actions, actions already undertaken in the scenario were not prominently indicated, time that actions were initiated (e.g., time that a dose of epinephrine was administered) was not displayed to users during gameplay, lack of auditory feedback (e.g., hearing ventilations, voiceover with important information), image of the simulated patient was not very interactive (e.g., color of baby did not change from blue to pink as oxygen saturation improved), and that some people did not enjoy this way of learning (Figure 3-5).

Lastly, the questionnaire presented several closed-answer items to assess participants' habits and attitudes towards technology (Table 3-6). Most HCPs did not report spending any time playing mobile or video games (n=32), however the time for those who did ranged widely from 1 to 60 hours per month (overall mean(SD) of 6.3(14.4) hours). Less than half of participants (n=20) reported having any previous experience with educational video games (n=30 said no). Overall, participants had favorable attitudes towards technology in education (holistic mean(SD) of 3.9(0.7) on a 5-point Likert scale). When asked about their use of personal electronics, n=30 participants self-reported spending at least 2 or more hours on their smartphones, computers, laptops, and/or tablets at home each day (n=16 reported 1-2 hours, and n=4 reported less than 1 hour).

Figure 3-5 Summary of themes from HCPs' feedback about the digital simulator



• Interactive patient

.			M (OD)
Item		Participants (n%)	Mean(SD)
Experience with	Yes	20 (40%)	
educational games	No	30 (60%)	
Enjoy reading about	Strongly agree	3 (6%)	3.1(1.1)
technology	Agree	20 (40%)	
	Neutral	12 (24%)	
	Disagree	10 (20%)	
	Strongly disagree	5 (10%)	
Enjoy using technology	Strongly agree	8 (16%)	4.0(0.7)
	Agree	34 (68%)	
	Neutral	6 (12%)	
	Disagree	2 (4%)	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Learning technology useful	Strongly agree	14 (28%)	4.2(0.5)
for career	Agree	34 (68%)	
	Neutral	2 (4%)	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Look forward to learning	Strongly agree	9 (18%)	4.1(0.5)
new technology	Agree	35 (70%)	
	Neutral	6 (12%)	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Interested in learning new	Strongly agree	6 (12)	3.9(0.6)
technology	Agree	32 (64%)	
	Neutral	11 (22%)	
	Disagree	1 (2%)	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Technology improves	Strongly agree	10 (20%)	4(0.6)
learning	Agree	31 (62%)	
	Neutral	9 (18%)	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Enjoy using technology to	Strongly agree	10 (20%)	4.1(0.6)
learn	Agree	33 (66%)	
	Neutral	7 (14%)	
	Disagree	0	
	Strongly disagree	0	
Personal technology use per	Less than 1 hour	4 (8%)	
day	1-2 hours	16 (32%)	
	2-3 hours	13 (26%)	
	5 or more hours	17 (34%)	

 Table 3-6 HCPs' self-reported habits and attitudes towards technology

5-point Likert-scale (1- strongly disagree, 2- disagree, 3- neutral, 4- agree, 5- strongly agree)

Chapter 4: Discussion, Future Directions, and Conclusions

4.1 Discussion

Lifelong learning is one of the central components of the professional responsibilities taken up by HCPs.⁷⁰ Continuing healthcare education to support lifelong learning is vital to adequately equip and empower HCPs to provide high-quality care for their patients. Both training and assessment are central to the objectives of continuing healthcare education. In most cases, the ideal environment for training and assessment is one that is as similar to the real-life parameters that HCPs will encounter in the clinic—particularly for advanced trainees and experienced professionals. Simulation education is therefore considered the gold standard for healthcare education, for both training and assessment of HCPs.

Simulation education facilitates an immersive learning environment for HCPs to practice their knowledge, skills, and teamwork in a controlled setting which prioritizes both patient and learner safety. Due to this value, many institutions invest significant resources to build out simulation centers outfitted with specialized manikins and equipment; hire simulation operation technicians to repair and maintain equipment to run smoothly; and train instructors to develop, facilitate, and expertly debrief simulation scenarios across a wide range of medical specialties and learning objectives. However, this initial investment in and of itself is a significant barrier to incorporating SBE⁷¹, in addition to the ongoing investments needed to keep these centers operational.⁷² Beyond the financial, human, and physical resources required to establish a comprehensive simulation program at a healthcare institution, busy HCPs need to devote significant and coordinated time above and beyond their clinical duties to undergo simulation sessions as frequently as is required to stave off knowledge decrease that occurs over time, and effectively maintain their skills.¹⁷ Therefore, the traditional approach to in-person simulation

training—while an essential component of a robust healthcare education program—presents significant challenges intrinsic to the nature of its format.

To help overcome these challenges, alternative approaches to supplement traditional SBE are a burgeoning area of interest for clinical education researchers. Simulation-based serious games are one such approach that has been identified as a potential alternative. Serious games aim to create an immersive environment to motivate learners to develop professionally-relevant knowledge and skills through active, experiential, or problem-based learning.⁷³ By purposefully utilizing elements like emotional design (e.g., high-stakes scenarios, immersive graphics, realistic auditory feedback) and competition (e.g., point-system, badges, or leaderboards), serious games stimulate pressure and stress in players, which may help improve their motivation^{74,75} and learning.^{76,77} Serious games can also help facilitate self-directed learning (in regard to topics and timing) to foster learners' autonomy.¹¹ In addition to these characteristics, serious games can be widely disseminated at relatively low initial and ongoing costs for the end-user, and are usually quite flexible, accessible, and familiar to HCPs.

Simulation-based serious games have been implemented across a wide range of contexts, including across medical specialties like surgery⁷⁸ and trauma⁷⁹, as well as disaster preparedness training for in-hospital HCPs.⁸⁰ In this thesis, the RETAIN simulation-based serious game for neonatal resuscitation was presented, and some of the educational outcomes of the board game and digital game were investigated.

4.1.1 Board Game Study

Lifelong training and assessment of HCPs are both necessary to improve health outcomes and uphold the standards of care expected by the public. Since the RETAIN board game had previously been reported to successfully train HCPs' neonatal resuscitation knowledge¹⁸, it was prudent to next investigate if the board game could also be used as a summative assessment of HCPs' neonatal resuscitation knowledge. Leveraging serious games like RETAIN for individual assessment of neonatal resuscitation providers is an attractive possibility, as more frequent audits of HCPs' competence would aim to ultimately improve healthcare delivery in the clinic.

Summative assessment is used to evaluate learners after they complete an instructional unit, and typically involves measuring learners' relative position in comparison to their peers or to an expected standard.^{81,82} Simulation-based summative assessment in healthcare education is ideal, as this format is more congruent with the material being tested (in comparison to other assessment approaches like a multiple-choice exam). When the assessment format is incongruent with the content, there is a risk for instructors to educate and for HCPs to study for the exam rather than for clinical preparedness.^{81,83} Furthermore, good feedback is essential to the success of any meaningful assessment and must be purposefully deployed to best support learners. Interactive and clinically grounded simulation-based assessment is often better positioned to provide good feedback than a written exam.

While there are many benefits of simulation-based assessment to demonstrate and measure HCPs' learning, it remains a stubbornly underutilized approach to assess HCPs' ongoing competence.^{84,85} This is most likely due to the significant barriers against its

implementation, including intense resource requirements and logistical challenges. Therefore, a balance must be struck between clinically relevant versus feasible assessments.

Serious games like the RETAIN board game could help improve this balance and flip the scales towards a relatively low-resource yet clinically relevant simulation-based assessment. This thesis presented a study conducted to investigate the RETAIN board game as an objective summative assessment of neonatal resuscitation knowledge. The study explored the relationship between HCPs' individual performance on an open-answer test (*written assessment*) compared to their performance on the board game (*game assessment*).

The results from this study revealed that HCPs performed better on the *game assessment* than on the *written assessment*, despite the game scenario having been more difficult than the open-answer scenario. Despite performance on the *game assessment* and *written assessment* being only weakly correlated with one another, there were not many differences identified across the assessment methods (i.e., NICU admission and stimulation was provided significantly more frequently in the *game assessment*). A strength of the *game assessment* was to probe HCPs' specific actions in real-time (i.e., more deeply assess HCPs' understanding of the specific ventilation corrective steps beyond stating the mnemonic acronym MR SOPA).

Moreover, since HCPs' performance on the *game assessment* was moderately associated with their reported previous board game experience (albeit, not significantly), assessing those participants with the board game could help better elicit their knowledge within this familiar environment, compared to a potentially stressful or less inviting written test. Importantly, both assessment methods worked equally well for participants who did not report previous board game experience. On this note, it was also promising to observe that most HCPs enjoyed using

RETAIN, which is important information to support the proposition that serious games indeed have the potential to make assessments more attractive and engaging for learners.

One limitation of using the board game as an assessment is that it requires a person to facilitate the scenario. In contrast, a traditional pen-and-paper test requires only the learners and the proctor (but with a larger personnel ratio than one-on-one). However, note that the traditional simulation-based approach would require at least the same or a greater number of people than the board game to run the assessment effectively.

Considering the limitations specific to this study, in hindsight, it would have been better to use scenarios of equal difficulty level for both the *game assessment* and *written assessment*, which escalate up to the same point in the neonatal resuscitation algorithm. This would have likely resulted in answer keys that better overlapped with one another, and perhaps not quite as big of a difference in the total number of points each scenario was calculated out of (16 versus 40 total possible points for the written and game scenarios, respectively).

To speculate why participants performed better on the *game assessment* despite it being a harder scenario than the *written assessment*, it is important to consider whether the board game may have simultaneously helped teach or cue HCPs as they interfaced with the game during the assessment. This is especially important to consider as Cutumisu *et al.* previously reported that HCPs improved their knowledge of the neonatal resuscitation algorithm by 12% after training with the board game.¹⁸ However, in contrast to the protocol used in that study, no help or formative feedback was provided to participants during the assessment in the current study.

An overall limitation of this pilot study was the small sample size (n=20), which unfortunately precluded deeper analysis. With more data points, potentially more variables would have reached significant association, and sub-group analysis could have been appropriately performed (i.e., comparing performance on the different assessment media between clinical roles, or along years of clinical experience).

The results from this pilot study indicate that the RETAIN board game can function as an assessment tool for neonatal resuscitation knowledge and may offer additional benefits above and beyond a traditional assessment (i.e., one-on-one assessment, more attractive for learners, opportunities for instructors to probe for more details). The outcome of this study is significant as the board game was previously only developed and designed as a training tool. These results ultimately contribute to a larger effort to validate the board game more comprehensively, and to inform its continued iterative development.

4.1.2 Digital Game Study

As described above, the twin pillars of lifelong learning in healthcare education are training and assessment. Having just explored the RETAIN board game in the context of assessment, the second part of this thesis investigated the RETAIN digital game in the context of training. The potential application of a simulation-based digital game for training neonatal resuscitation providers could help supplement traditional SBE with more frequent, personalized, and self-directed refresher sessions. This may present a valuable strategy to help curb the decline in learners' mastery after simulation training observed over time.¹⁷

In the present study, experienced HCPs who trained with the digital game were followed longitudinally over time to assess their potential knowledge improvement, retention, maintenance, and transfer. Compared to their baseline scores on the *pre-test* scenario,
participants improved their performance significantly after training with the RETAIN simulator. Performance trends improved over time, even though HCPs only underwent a single session with the digital game. While overall performance on the *pre-test* was slightly poor, the results indicate that some participants performed very well on the pre-test (as the median was smaller than the mean). This may have meant that some participants experienced less dramatic changes in their performance post-training. Participants' performance on the *pre-test* and *5-month post-test* were moderately correlated, which is promising to consider especially as the 5-month session presented the most difficult simulation scenario throughout the study. All in all, training with the digital simulation game appeared to result in long-term knowledge retention by HCPs, at least over the 5-month period examined.

Knowledge transfer at the 5-month timepoint was measured using the board game as the assessment method. Knowledge transfer represents analogical thinking, whereby knowledge learned in one situation is transferred to another, but rarely happens spontaneously, as its successful demonstration requires learners to possess a deep understanding of a concept before being able to recognize and apply its general form across different instances.⁸⁶ Medical education and simulation training that help learners apply their knowledge to unfamiliar learning contexts facilitates the development of good problem-solving and decision-making skills. These skills are essential once learners progress to the clinical environment, where they must ultimately make difficult decisions on their own.⁸⁷ The proportion of participants who passed the knowledge transfer task was on par with all other post-training assessments, indicating that training with the RETAIN digital game not only improves and maintains but also transfers HCPs' neonatal resuscitation knowledge.

As presented in the introduction of this thesis, RETAIN is situated within a wider landscape of simulation games—particularly digital and virtual reality games—for neonatal resuscitation training and assessment. However, the most consistent shortcoming of these media is the lack of evidence-based educational outcomes reported as a result of their use. Outcomes can be reported at different levels ranging from measuring changes in performance on a test, performance on a game-based simulation, performance on a traditional simulation scenario, performance in the delivery room, and ultimately improvement of health outcomes for patients at institutions that implement these educational media.

A potentially important factor which may likely determine the success and viability of alternative educational media like serious games is their uptake by learners and instructors. The survey results from the digital study indicate that the HCPs at this site were experienced in and had generally positive attitudes towards technology and were interested in its use to support their education and professional development. Their attitudes towards RETAIN were generally positive, including that they thought it could be helpful for NRP training. The negative openanswer feedback was overall constructive towards actionable changes to improve the user experience. However, there are some HCPs who reported not enjoying playing the game, and even with the future usability improvements, may never be inclined to engage with this way of learning. Therefore, it would be important for any site which is thinking of adopting a novel education technology to ideally accommodate all HCPs' different learning approaches to avoid anyone feeling excluded or ignored, and thus deter their motivation to train.

Overall limitations of the RETAIN digital simulator is that this medium is not designed with the goal to help train HCPs' psychomotor or physical skills (e.g., provide chest compressions), and must therefore be used in conjunction with traditional SBE to reinforce

knowledge and decision-making skills. This study was only able to assess HCPs' knowledge demonstrated within the game, and not whether improved performance within the digital simulation translates to actual competence to provide neonatal resuscitation care. However, participants were able to transfer their knowledge from one medium (digital game) to another (tabletop game), which indicates some deeper level understanding and potential for transfer to the delivery room setting.

In consideration of the reported outcomes from the first summative assessment study, it may have been more likely for participants to perform well on the board game during the knowledge transfer task. However, the study reported this relatively "better performance" on the board game in comparison to an open-answer written test, whereas the second study compared participants' performance on the board game to its digital game analog. Therefore, this potential limitation of the knowledge transfer assessment was likely not relevant in this longitudinal study. However, future studies to measure knowledge transfer may choose to use a different assessment method.

Other limitations are the lack of control condition (e.g., studying with a textbook, watching a video of a simulation scenario, etc.) and random assignment. Additional studies are needed to compare the digital simulation game to other educational approaches. The use of convenience sampling and participant attrition across the three studies (20% between the first and last timepoint) were also limitations, but reasonable for the study as participants were HCPs on-service in a busy intensive care unit, which made follow-up for retesting challenging. Fortunately, there were no observed differences between the pre-test scores or survey-attitudes for HCPs who dropped out of the study, compared to those who remained.

4.2 Future Directions

Future directions for research on the RETAIN simulators for neonatal resuscitation education will need to implement a randomized controlled trial to measure changes in HCPs' performance (e.g., improved adherence, closed-loop communication) after training with RETAIN—first in a traditional simulation setting, then in the delivery room.

To build on the current research examining RETAIN for assessment, a next step would include conducting a larger study to explore these potential relationships between performance, clinical roles, and experience levels, as well as implementing the board game assessment across a variety of simulation scenarios and situations (e.g., low-stakes versus high-stakes cases). In consideration of the specific challenges faced by learners in remote or rural locations^{88,89}, and in response to current public health guidelines encouraging distanced learning, it would also be interesting to investigate using the board game (facilitated by videoconferencing) for tele-education and remote training and assessment of learners.

Speaking further to these potential applications and implementation, digital simulation can help facilitate more frequent and convenient training at high-resource urban sites (like the level-three perinatal center where this research was conducted) but may also play an important role in improving access to SBE for HCPs from low-resource or rural healthcare sites. Most recently, digital simulation may also help respond to the current need for distanced healthcare education strategies in response to the ongoing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.⁹⁰

Due to COVID-19, educators across all settings have had to rely overall on more passive methods like video lectures and online assessments. While SBE would be preferred to maintain

clinical relevance, simulation programs have faced tremendous challenges to remain operational (e.g., maintaining physical distancing, rationing personal protective equipment, depleting personnel due to self-isolation or reassignment to clinical duties; and the threat of converting simulation space to increase hospital capacity).⁹⁰ After the current public health crisis has subsided, pandemic preparedness will likely be more thoughtfully incorporated into risk management and disaster preparedness protocol for healthcare institutions, including strategies to mitigate interruptions for both professional training programs (e.g., medical, nursing, diploma programs) and continuing healthcare education for experienced HCPs alike. Digital simulators like RETAIN offer scenarios of varying difficulty and patient risk factors, with limited equipment or personnel requirements; and are accessible by HCPs anywhere and anytime. These three important characteristics make these simulators an attractive resource to support healthcare education during the current and potentially similar future crises, so that HCPs may continue to be equipped to provide safe and effective healthcare for their patients.

4.3 Conclusions

This thesis explored some educational outcomes and attitudes towards the RETAIN board game and digital game, in a population of experienced HCPs from a level-3 NICU. The board game was observed to function as an enjoyable, clinically relevant, and low-cost summative assessment of HCPs' neonatal resuscitation knowledge. Training with the digital game was observed to improve HCPs' knowledge of the neonatal resuscitation algorithm, with improved performance sustained over 2 and 5 months after the initial training session, even when performance was measured with different instruments (digital game and tabletop game, respectively). HCPs were also able to successfully transfer their gained knowledge to a novel learning environment of the board game. HCPs expressed positive attitudes towards the RETAIN simulation-based games, indicating their potential receptiveness towards incorporating these media to support their continuing healthcare education.

The potential for effective incorporation and long-term viability of these games will likely depend on their efficacy and uptake—two factors which were supported by the outcomes of this research project. Overall, there seems to be a role for simulation-based serious games to support HCPs' mastery of their neonatal resuscitation knowledge and skills, and is wellpositioned to address specific challenges persistent to traditional SBE, like improving access to training for rural, remote, or distanced HCP learners during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond.

References

- World Health Organization. One Million Babies Die Within 24 Hours Of Birth. Global Health Workforce Alliance. https://www.who.int/workforcealliance/media/news/2014/end_new_born_death/en/. Published 2014. Accessed March 1, 2021.
- Walker KF, Cohen AL, Walker SH, Allen KM, Baines DL, Thornton JG. The dangers of the day of birth. *BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol*. 2014;121(6):714-718. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.12544
- 3. World Health Organization. Newborn death and illness. Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health Fact Sheet. https://www.who.int/pmnch/media/press_materials/fs/fs_newborndealth_illness/en/
- Gillam-Krakauer M, Gowen CW. *Birth Asphyxia*. Treasure Island FL: StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2020.
- Weiner GM. *Textbook of Neonatal Resuscitation (NRP)*. 7th ed. (Zaichkin J, ed.). Elk Grove Village, Illinois: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2016.
- Simon L, Hashmi M, Bragg B. StatPearls: APGAR Score. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island FL: StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2021.
- Duran R, Aladağ N, Vatansever Ü, Süt N, Acunaş B. The impact of Neonatal Resuscitation Program courses on mortality and morbidity of newborn infants with perinatal asphyxia. *Brain Dev.* 2008;30(1):43-46. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2007.05.009

- Lawn JE, Manandhar A, Haws RA, Darmstadt GL. Reducing one million child deaths from birth asphyxia--A survey of health systems gaps and priorities. *Heal Res policy Syst.* 2007;5(4). doi:10.1186/1478-4505-5-4
- Lee AC, Mullany LC, Tielsch JM, et al. Risk factors for neonatal mortality due to birth asphyxia in southern Nepal: A prospective, community-based cohort study. *Pediatrics*. 2008;121(5):e1381–e1390. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1966
- Joint Commission. Sentinel event alert: Preventing infant death and injury during delivery. (2004). Available online at: http://www.jointcommission.org/SentinelEvents/SentinelEventAlert/sea_30.htm?print=yes [9/ (accessed May 5, 2021).
- Ghoman SK, Patel SD, Cutumisu M, et al. Serious games, a game changer in teaching neonatal resuscitation? A review. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2020;105(1).
 doi:10.1136/archdischild-2019-317011
- Starcke K, Brand M. Decision making under stress: A selective review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2012;36(4):1228-1248. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.02.003
- Wemm S, Wulfert E. Effects of acute stress on decision making. *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback*. 2017;42(1):1-12. doi:10.1007/s10484-016-9347-8
- 14. Kim Y, Woo J, Woo M. Effects of stress and task difficulty on working memory and cortical networking. *Percept Mot Skills*. 2017;124(6):1194-1210. doi:10.1177/0031512517732851

- LeBlanc VR, MacDonald RD, McArthur B, King K, Lepine T. Paramedic performance in calculating drug dosages following stressful scenarios in a human patient simulator. *Prehospital Emerg Care*. 2005;9(4):439-444. doi:10.1080/10903120500255255
- Yamada NK, Yaeger KA, Halamek LP. Analysis and classification of errors made by teams during neonatal resuscitation. *Resuscitation*. 2015;96:109-113. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2015.07.048
- Matterson HH, Szyld D, Green BR, et al. Neonatal resuscitation experience curves: Simulation based mastery learning booster sessions and skill decay patterns among pediatric residents. *J Perinat Med.* 2018;46(8):934-941. doi:10.1515/jpm-2017-0330
- Cutumisu M, Patel SD, Brown MRG, et al. RETAIN: A board game that improves neonatal resuscitation knowledge retention. *Front Pediatr*. 2019;January. doi:10.3389/fped.2019.00013
- Binotti M, Genoni G, Rizzollo S, et al. Simulation-based medical training for paediatric residents in Italy: A nationwide survey. *BMC Med Educ*. 2019;19(1):1-7. doi:10.1186/s12909-019-1581-3
- 20. Mileder, L P; Urlesberger, B; Schwindt J; Simma B; Schmölzer GM. Compliance with guidelines recommending the use of simulation for neonatal and infant resuscitation training in Austria. *Klin Padiatr*. 2014;226(01):24-28. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1361106
- Savoldelli G, Naik V, Hamstra S, Morgan P. Barriers to use of simulation-based education. *Can J Anaesth*. 2005;52(9):944-950. doi:10.1007/BF03022056

- Burns C. Using debriefing and feedback in simulation to improve participant performance: An educator's perspective. *Int J Med Educ*. 2015;6:118-120. doi:10.5116/ijme.55fb.3d3a
- Kolb DA. Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development (Vol. 1). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1984.
- 24. Bergeron BP. Developing Serious Games. Hingham, MA: Charles River Media; 2006.
- Tan JW, Zary N. Diagnostic markers of user experience, play, and learning for digital serious games: A conceptual framework study. *J Med Internet Res*. 2019;21(7):1-11. doi:10.2196/14620
- Bellotti F, Berta R, De Gloria A. Designing effective serious games: Opportunities and challenges for research. *Int J Emerg Technol Learn*. 2010;5(3):22-35. doi:10.3991/ijet.v5s3.1500
- Rall M, Manser T, Guggenberger H, Gaba D, Unertl K. Patient safety and errors in medicine: Development, prevention and analyses of incidents. *Anästhesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther*. 2001;36(6):321-330. doi:10.1055/s-2001-14806
- Boyle E, Connolly TM, Hainey T. The role of psychology in understanding the impact of computer games. *Entertain Comput.* 2011;2(2):69-74. doi:10.1016/j.entcom.2010.12.002
- Graafland M, Schraagen JM, Schijven MP. Systematic review of serious games for medical education and surgical skills training. *Br J Surg.* 2012;99(10):1322-1330. doi:10.1002/bjs.8819
- 30. Zaichkin J, McCarney L, Weiner G. NRP 7th Edition: Are You Prepared? Neonatal Netw.

2016;35(4):184-191. doi:10.1891/0730-0832.35.4.184

- Umoren RA, Gray MM, Chitkara R, et al. Pre-course preparation with eSimTM computerbased simulation improves neonatal provider performance on standardized simulations. *Pediatrics*. 2020;146(1 Meeting Abstract):324-327. doi:10.1542/peds.146.1 MeetingAbstract.324
- Marshall HA. Serious gaming for neonatal resucitation skills maintainance. *Int J Integr Care*. 2014;14(8) doi:10.5334/ijic.1813.
- Yeo C, Ho S, Tagamolila V, et al. Use of web-based game in neonatal resuscitation Is it effective? *BMC Med Educ*. 2020;20(1):170. doi:10.1186/s12909-020-02078-5
- 34. Hu L, Zhang L, Yin R, et al. NEOGAMES: A serious computer game that improves longterm knowledge retention of neonatal resuscitation in undergraduate medical students. *Front Pediatr.* 2021;9(April):645776. doi:10.3389/fped.2021.645776
- 35. Fonseca L, Dias D, Goes Fdos S, et al. Development of the e-Baby serious game with regard to the evaluation of oxygenation in preterm babies: Contributions of the emotional design. *Comput informatics, Nurs CIN.* 2014;32(9):428-436. doi:10.1097/CIN.000000000000078
- Fonseca LMM, Del N, Aredes A, et al. Serious game e-Baby: nursing students' perception on learning about preterm newborn clinical assessment. *Rev Bras Enferm*. 2015;68(1):9-14. doi:10.1590/0034-7167.2015680102i
- 37. Fonseca L, Aredes NDA, Fernandes AM, et al. Computer and laboratory simulation in the

teaching of neonatal nursing: Innovation and impact on learning. *Rev Lat Am Enfermagem*. 2016;24:2808. doi:10.1590/1518-8345.1005.2808

- 38. Paton C, Winters N, English M. LIFE: Life-saving instruction for emergencies, A serious game for mobile devices and VR. In: Brown J, Kostkova P, Wood C, Lefevre C, O'Brien K, eds. 3rd UCL Centre for Behaviour Change Digital Health Conference 2017: Harnessing Digital Technology for Behaviour Change. London: UCL Centre for Behaviour Change and the Institute for Digital Health; 2017.
- 39. Umoren RA, Bucher S, Purkayastha S, et al. eHBB/mHBS-DHIS2: Mobile virtual reality provider training in Helping Babies Breathe®. *Pediatrics*. 2020;146(1 Meeting Abstract):290-292. doi:10.1542/peds.146.1_MeetingAbstract.290
- Williams J, Jones D, Walker R. Consideration of using virtual reality for teaching neonatal resuscitation to midwifery students. *Nurse Educ Pract*. 2018;31(November 2017):126-129. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.05.016
- 41. Swiderska, N; Thomason, E; Hart ASB. Randomised controlled trial of the use of an educational board game in neonatology. *Med Teach*. 2013;35(5):413-415. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2013.769679
- 42. Gordon, DW; Brown H. Fun and games in reviewing neonatal emergency care. *Neonatal Netw.* 1995;14(3):45-49.
- 43. Swingler G. An evaluation of a board game as an aid to teaching neonatal primary care.*Gurationis*. 1994;17(1):38-39.

- Ghoman SK, Schmölzer GM. The RETAIN simulation-based serious game—A review of the literature. *Healthcare*. 2019;8(1):3. doi:10.3390/healthcare8010003
- 45. Bulitko V, Hong J, Kumaran K, et al. RETAIN: A neonatal resuscitation trainer built in an undergraduate video-game class. 2015.
- 46. Cutumisu M, Brown MRG, Fray C, Schmölzer GM. Growth mindset moderates the effect of the neonatal resuscitation program on performance in a computer-based game training simulation. *Front Pediatr.* 2018;6(July):195. doi:10.3389/fped.2018.00195
- 47. Lu C, Ghoman SK, Cutumisu M, Schmölzer GM. Unsupervised machine learning algorithms examine healthcare providers' perceptions and logitudinal performance in a digital neonatal resuscitation simulator. *Front Pediatr*. 2020;8:544. doi:10.3389/fped.2020.00544
- Lu C, Ghoman SK, Cutumisu M, Schmölzer GM. Mindset moderates healthcare providers' longitudinal performance in a digital neonatal resuscitation simulator. *Front Pediatr*. 2021;8(February):1-10. doi:10.3389/fped.2020.594690
- 49. Ghoman SK, Cutumisu M, Schmölzer GM. Using the RETAIN neonatal resuscitation game to train and assess health care professionals ' competence in an observational study design. *SAGE Res Methods Cases Med Heal*. 2020. doi:10.4135/9781529734461
- Soar J, Monsieurs KG, Ballance JHW, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2010 Section 9. Principles of education in resuscitation. *Resuscitation*. 2010;81(10):1434-1444. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2010.08.014

- 51. Giunti G, Baum A, Giunta D, et al. Serious games: A concise overview on what they are and their potential applications to healthcare. *Stud Health Technol Inform*. (conference paper) 2015;216:386-390. doi:10.3233/978-1-61499-564-7-386
- 52. Yardley S, Teunissen P, Dornan T. Experiential learning: Transforming theory into practice. *Med Teach*. 2012;34(2):161-164. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2012.643264.
- Cowan B, Sabri H, Kapralos B, Moussa F, Cristancho S, Dubrowski A. A serious game for off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery procedure training. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 2011;163:147-149.
- 54. Knight, JF; Carley, S; Tregunna, B; Jarvis, S; Smithies, R; de Freitas, S; Dunwell, I; Mackway-Jones K. Serious gaming technology in major incident triage training: A pragmatic controlled trial. *Resuscitation*. 2010;81(9):1175-1179. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2010.03.042
- Mohan D, Fischhoff B, Angus DC, et al. Serious games may improve physician heuristics in trauma triage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2018;115(37):9204-9209. doi:10.1073/pnas.1805450115
- 56. Al KET, Katz D, Zerillo J, et al. Serious gaming for orthotopic liver transplant anesthesiology: A randomized control trial. *Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc.* 2017;23(4):430-439. doi:10.1002/lt.24732
- Knowles M. *The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy*.
 Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Cambridge Adult Education; 1980.

- Koponen J, Pyörälä E, Isotalus P. Comparing three experiential learning methods and their effect on medical students' attitudes to learning communication skills. *Med Teach*. 2012;34(3):198-207. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2012.642828
- Candy PC. Experiential learning in adult education. *Stud Contin Educ.* 1980;3(5):59-72. doi:10.1080/0158037800030505
- 60. Gosen J, Washbush JB. A review of scholarship on assessing experiential learning effectiveness. *Simul Gaming*. 2004;35(2):270-293. doi:10.1177/1046878104263544
- Perry NW, Huss MT, McAuliff BD, Galas JM. An active-learning approach to teaching the undergraduate psychology and law course. *Teach Psychol*. 1996;23(2):76-81. doi:10.1207/s15328023top2302
- 62. Dabbour KS. Applying active learning methods to the design of library instruction for a freshman seminar. *Coll Res Libr*. 1997;58(4):299-308. doi:10.5860/crl.58.4.299
- 63. Meyer EG, Battista A, Sommerfeldt JM, West JC, Hamaoka D, Cozza KL. Experiential learning cycles as an effective means for teaching psychiatric clinical skills via repeated simulation in the psychiatry clerkship. *Acad Psychiatry*. 2021;45(2):150-158. doi:10.1007/s40596-020-01340-8
- 64. Abdool P, Nirula L, Bonato S, Rajji T, Silver I. Simulation in undergraduate psychiatry: Exploring the depth of learner engagement. *Acad Psychiatry*. 2017;41(2):251-261. doi:10.1007/s40596-016-0633-9
- 65. Ranchhod A, Gurău C, Loukis E, Trivedi R. Evaluating the educational effectiveness of

simulation games: A value generation model. *Inf Sci.* 2014;264:75-90. doi:10.1016/j.ins.2013.09.008

- 66. Poore JA, Cullen DL, Schaar GL. Simulation-based interprofessional education guided by Kolb's experiential learning theory. *Clin Simul Nurs*. 2014;10(5):e241-e247. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2014.01.004
- Kolb DA. Learning styles and disciplinary differences. The Modern American College: Responding to the New Realities of Diverse Students and a Changing Society.1981;1:232-255.
- Corvetto MA, Taekman JM. To die or not to die? A review of simulated death. *Simul Healthc*. 2013;8(1):8-12. doi:10.1097/SIH.0b013e3182689aff
- 69. The United States Medical Licensing Examination. InCUS Invitational Conference on USMLE Scoring. Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB) and National Board of Medical Examiners (NBME). https://www.usmle.org/inCus/#updates. Published 2019. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 70. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. *Annual Report: Education and Life Long Learning*.; 2017.
- Kurrek MM, Devitt JH. The cost for construction and operation of a simulation centre. *Can J Anaesth.* 1997;44(11):1191-1195. doi:10.1007/BF03013344
- McIntosh C, Macario A, Flanagan B, Gaba DM. Simulation: What does it really cost? J Soc Simul Healthc. 2006;1(2):109. doi:10.1097/01266021-200600120-00041

- Connolly TM, Boyle EA, Macarthur E, Hainey T, Boyle JM. A systematic literature review of empirical evidence on computer games and serious games. *Comput Educ*. 2012;59(2):661-686. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2012.03.004
- Vorderer P, Hartmann T, Klimmt C. Explaining the enjoyment of playing video games: The role of competition. *ICEC '03 Proc Second Int Conf Entertain Comput.* 2003;(May 2014):2-10. doi:10.1145/958720.958735
- 75. Grodal T. Video games and the pleasures of control. In: Zillmann D, Vorderer P, eds. Media Entertainment: The Psychology of Its Appeal. Mahway, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2000:197-212.
- Oudejans R. Reality-based practice under pressure improves handgun shooting performance of police officers. *Ergonomics*. 2008;51(3):261-273. doi:10.1080/00140130701577435
- 77. DeMaria S, Bryson EO, Mooney TJ, et al. Adding emotional stressors to training in simulated cardiopulmonary arrest enhances participant performance. *Med Educ*. 2010;44(10):1006-1015. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03775.x
- 78. Harrington CM, Chaitanya V, Dicker P, Traynor O, Kavanagh DO. Playing to your skills: A randomised controlled trial evaluating a dedicated video game for minimally invasive surgery. *Surg Endosc.* 2018;32(9):3813-3821. doi:10.1007/s00464-018-6107-2
- Mohan D, Farris C, Fischhoff B, et al. Efficacy of educational video game versus traditional educational apps at improving physician decision making in trauma triage:
 Randomized controlled trial. *BMJ*. 2017;359:1-12. doi:10.1136/bmj.j5416

- Thomas A, Gray MM, Burns B, Umoren R. EVAC: Evacuation of vulnerable and critical pediatric patients for nurses. *Cureus*. 2020;12(5). doi:10.7759/cureus.8302
- Yüksel HS, Gündüz N. Formative and summative assessment in higher education: Opinions and practices of instructors. *Online Submiss*. 2017;3(November 2014):3. doi:10.5281/zenodo.832999
- 82. Earl L. Assessment as Learning. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press, Inc.; 2004.
- Williams P. Squaring the circle: a new alternative to alternative- assessment. *Teach High Educ*. 2014;19(5):565-577. doi:10.1080/13562517.2014.882894
- Steadman RH, Huang YM. Simulation for quality assurance in training, credentialing and maintenance of certification. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol*. 2012;26(1):3-15. doi:10.1016/j.bpa.2012.01.002
- Ward RC, Muckle TJ, Kremer MJ, Krogh MA. Computer-based case simulations for assessment in health care: A literature review of validity evidence. *Eval Heal Prof.* 2019;42(1):82-102. doi:10.1177/0163278717718609
- 86. Gick ML, Holyoak KJ. Schema induction and analogical transfer. *Cogn Psychol*. 1983;15(1):1-38. doi:10.1016/0010-0285(83)90002-6
- Schwartz DL, Chase CC, Oppezzo MA, Chin DB. Practicing versus inventing with contrasting cases: The effects of telling first on learning and transfer. *J Educ Psychol*. 2011;103(4):759-775. doi:10.1037/a0025140
- 88. Jukkala AM, Henly SJ. Readiness for neonatal resuscitation: Measuring knowledge,

experience, and comfort level. *Appl Nurs Res*. 2007;20(2):78-85. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2006.01.006

- Jukkala A, Henly SJ, Lindeke L. SimNewB for neonatal resuscitation. *Adv Neonatal Care*.
 2008;8(6):303. doi:10.1097/01.anc.0000342759.41370.0c
- 90. Ghoman SK, Cutumisu M, Schmölzer GM. Using technology to bridge the gap for remote healthcare education during COVID-19. *BMJ Simul Technol Enhanc Learn*. 2020. doi:10.1136/bmjstel-2020-000733